
 

 

 

 

LEEDS SCHOOL FORUM 
 

 
Meeting to be held in  on 

Thursday, 25th February, 2021 at 4.30 pm 
 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Andrew Neal, A. Primary Governor - Adel St John Primary 
Jatinder Ubhi, A. Primary Governor - Swarcliffe Primary 
Helen Brough, A. Primmary Governor - Primrose Lane Primary 
Dave Kagai, A. Primary Governors - St Nicholas Primary 
Sue Tuck, A. Primary Governor - Ireland Wood Primary 
John Garvani (LSF), A. Primary Governors - Broadgate Primary School 
John Hutchinson, B. Primary Heads - St Theresa's Catholic Primary 
Claire Harrison, B. Primary Heads - Wetherby Deighton Gates Primary 
Barbara Trayer, B. Secondary Governors - Allerton Grange Secondary 
Helen Stott, B. Primary Heads - Allerton C of E Primary 
Peter Harris, B. Primary Heads - Farsley Farfield Primary 
Julie Harkness, B. Primary Heads - Carr Manor Community school - Primary Phase 
Jo Smithson, B. Primary Heads - Greenhill Primary 
David Webster, C. Secondary Governors - Pudsey Grangefield 
Delia Martin, D. Secondary Heads - Benton Park 
Lucie Lakin, D. Secondary Heads - Wetherby High 
Rob Dixon, E. Academy Rep, Pudsey Waterloo Primary 
David Gurney, E. Academy Reps - Cockburn School 
Neil Miley, E. Academy Reps - Dixons Academy 
John Thorne, E. Academy Reps - Co-operative Academy Priesthorpe 
Emma Lester, E. Academy Reps - Woodkirk Academy 
Ian Goddard, E. Academy Reps - Ebor Gardens/Victoria Primary Ac 
Siobhan Roberts, E. Academy Reps - Cockburn John Charles Academy 
Joe Barton, E. Academy Reps - Woodkirk Academy 
Anna Mackenzie, E. Academy Reps - Richmond Hill Academy 
Danny Carr, E. Academy Reps - Dixons Academy 
Russell Trigg, F. SILC Governor East / NW SILC - Special School Governor 
Ben Mallinson, G. Academy (AP) - The Stephen Longfellow Academy 
Mary Ruggles, H. Academy Specialist Provision - Springwell Academy 
Diane Reynard, I. Special School Principal  - East / NW SILC - SILC Principals 
Louise Turner, J. 16-19 Providers - Leeds City College 
Helen Gration, J. Non School PVI - Nursery Provider 
Angela Hynes, J. Non School PVI - Nursery Provider 
Patrick Murphy, J. Non School - Schools JCC 
Angela Cox, J. Non School - Leeds Catholic Diocese 
Dan Cohen (Leeds School Forum), J. Jewish Faith Schools 

 

Public Document Pack



 
2 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Tile Lead Time Purpose 

1.   
 

APOLOGIES AND 
INTRODUCTIONS 
 
 

 16:30 
 

For information 
 

2.   
 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
See attached 
5 - 12 
 

 16:40 
 

For decision 
 

3.   
 

MATTERS ARISING 
 
 

 16:50 
 

For decision 
 

4.   
 

UPDATE TO LEEDS SCHEME FOR 
FINANCING SCHOOLS 
 
See attached. 
13 - 54 
 

 16:55 
 

For information 
 

5.   
 

DSG MONITORING REPORT 
2020/21 
 
See attached 
55 - 62 
 

 17:10 
 

For information 
 

6.   
 

HIGH NEEDS BLOCK BUDGET 
2021/22 
 
See attached 
63 - 66 
 

 17:30 
 

For information 
 

7.   
 

FREE EARLY YEARS EDUCATION 
ENTITLEMENT RATE 
 
See attached. 
67 - 76 
 

 17:50 
 

For decision 
 

8.   
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 

 18:15 
 

For information 
 



 
3 

9.   
 

MEETING DATE AND FUTURE 
PLANS 
 
 

 18:25 
 

For information 
 

10.   
 

MEETING CLOSED 
 
 

 18:30 
 

For information 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 | P a g e  
 

  

Leeds Schools Forum  
Microsoft Teams Meeting 

Tuesday 19 January 2021 at 16:30 

 

    Membership (Apologies in Italics) 

 

   GOVERNORS        HEADTEACHERS  

Primary (6 seats)  Primary (6 seats) 

Sue Tuck                 Ireland Wood  

David Kagai        St Nicholas 

John Garvani         Broadgate 

Jatinder Ubhi          Swarcliffe Primary 
Andrew Neal                Adel St John's Primary 
Helen Brough               Primrose Lane Primary 
 

John Hutchinson                  St Theresa’s Catholic Primary 

Helen Stott                                       Allerton C of E Primary 

Peter Harris                                    Farsley Farfield Primary 

Julie Harkness                   Carr Manor Community School 

Jo Smithson               Greenhill Primary 

Vacancy 

Secondary (2 seats) Secondary (2 seats) 

Barbara Trayer            Allerton Grange 

David Webster      Pudsey Grangefield                                     

Delia Martin                                                         Benton Park 

Lucie Lakin      Wetherby High 

 

Special (1 seat) Special (1 seat) 

Russell Trigg          East SILC, John Jamieson 

 

Diane Reynard                                                   East SILC                                                    

Non School Academies – Mainstream (10 seats) 

Angela Hynes                                               PVI Providers 

Helen Gration                                              PVI Providers 

Patrick Murphy                                              Schools JCC 

Louise Turner                                      16-19 Providers 

Angela Cox OBE                                    Catholic Diocese 

Dan Cohen   Jewish Faith Schools 

 

 

 

David Gurney                                              Cockburn School 

Danny Carr                Dixons Academy 

Neil Miley                Dixons Academy 

John Thorne                            Co-op Academy Priesthorpe 

Emma Lester                                          Woodkirk Academy 

Ian Goddard                       Ebor Gardens/Victoria Primary 

Siobhan Roberts                              Cockburn John Charles 

Joe Barton                                              Woodkirk Academy 

Anna McKenzie       Richmond Hill  

Rob Dixon                Cockburn School 

Local Authority Reps:  

Sal Tariq, OBE,  Director  Academy – Special School (1 seat) 

Tim Pouncey, Chief Officer Strategy & Resources Mary Ruggles                                   Springwell Leeds North 

Louise Hornsey, Head of Service, Finance  

Lucie McAulay, Head of Service, Finance Academy – Alternative Provision (1 Seat) 

Val Waite, Head of Learning Inclusion Vacancy 

Shirley Maidens, Finance  

Elizabeth Jackson, Finance  

Claire Swift, Finance  

Viv Buckland, Head of Learning Systems  

Jonathon Renton, Finance  

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Item Title Actions 

1 Apologies  
Dan Cohen, Sue Tuck, Lucie Lakin, Anna McKenzie 
 

 

2 
2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 

Introductions and Schools Forum Membership 
The Chair welcomed both Rob Dixon who has joined the Forum as an Academy Representative 
and Wendy Beesley from Woodkirk Academy who will be observing the meeting. 
 
There are currently two vacancies; one for a Primary Headteacher and the second for Academy 
alternative provision.  It was agreed to re-advertise the posts. 
 

 
 
 
 
LG 

3 
3.1 

Minutes of last meeting  
The minutes of November’s meeting were agreed. 
 

 

4 
4.1 
 
4.2 
 

Matters Arising 
Page Two, Matters Arising - FFI Top Ups:  To be brought to February’s meeting. 
 
Page Five, Item 8.6 Northpoint Counselling.  Following the meeting the details requested were 
supplied and can be found at Appendix One. 
 

 
VW 

5 
5.1 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 

Early Years Plan 
In 2020-21 the Council retained £35k of the funding for three to four year olds.  The money 
was spent on the Early Years Improvement and Engagement Programme.  
 
The programme is about proactively engaging with Early Years PVI settings across the city, 
many of whom do not engage unless there is a crisis eg a Requires Improvement or Inadequate 
judgement from Ofsted.  The programme offers free training on communications, language, 
literacy, maths and how to support learning in these areas.  It also looks at developing 
relationships with leadership teams and supporting leaders to decide on their priorities for the 
year ahead.   
 
A universal training programme has been offered across the city and in addition the Early Years 
team has provided individual settings with comprehensive support.  This includes regular 
meetings with Early Years consultants; looking at helping settings to undertake individual self-
assessments and put relevant action plans in place. 
 
In addition to the training programme 20 PVI settings were targeted to take part in the 
programme.  Criteria for selection included for example a previous Requires Improvement or 
Inadequate judgement or a high number of disadvantaged children.  Of the 20, 18 have 
continued to engage with the programme.    The number of targeted settings was set at 20 due 
to the capacity available and also being realistic about how to use the resource to its best 
effect. 
 
The pandemic did impact on the programme but the team used the time to develop tools eg 
self-assessments and online training sessions.  There is now a clear plan of work in place which 
will enable the delivery of the programme. 
 
There are currently 40 schools (12.7%) with a Requires Improvement or Inadequate Ofsted 
judgement in Leeds. 
 

 

Page 6



 

3 | P a g e  
 

5.7 
 
 
5.8 

The Universal offer was also well received with 150 practitioners utilising online sessions.  The 
feedback has been very positive. 
 
The Directorate is looking at learning from the pandemic and will be building on lessons learnt 
so that services can be delivered in the most efficient way possible.  Discussions were held 11 
months ago around trying to have an effective set of proposals around interventions but at the 
same time retain a smaller proportion of the FEEE hourly rate as possible.  It is hoped to get 
this rate down to 17p.  FEEE costs will be brought back to the February meeting.   
 

6 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
 
 
 
6.5 
 
 
 
 
6.6 
 
 
6.7 
 
 
6.8 
 
 
 
6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
6.10 
 
 
 
 
 

De-delegation of Service 2021/22    
The Authority is required to consult with all maintained schools with regard to de-delegation 
of services to schools.  The result of the consultation is attached to the report.  When the 
report was written 37 responses had been received, however since the deadline a further eight 
were received.  Of the 44, 35 were primary schools, eight secondary and one a through school.  
The consultation report will be updated to reflect the late responses. 
 
The proposal is to keep the budget the same as last year (£4.573M) with a slight inflationary 
increase of £23k.  Any underspend will, as in previous years, be redistributed to schools who 
contributed to the budget.     
 
Contingency and support of schools in financial difficulty: this is for unforeseen funding and 
capitalisation of pension costs.  It is proposed that this remains the same as 2020-21 at 
£1.049M with £50k ring-fenced for the schools urgent improvement fund.  Any underspend 
will be returned to schools.  The consultation saw 100% of Primary schools in agreement and 
88% of Secondary. 
 
Maternity and Other Cover: This also includes magistrates or reserve duties.  The proposal is 
for a 1% increase on last year which will give a de-delegation of £2.045M and a 1.5% on per 
pupil rate.  Results of the consultation were 100% of Primary and 88% of Secondary schools in 
agreement. 
 
Suspended staff cover:  The proposed budget is £30k the same as last year.  The consultation 
response was 100% Primary and 88% Secondary in favour. 
 
Trade Union Facilities: same as last year at £370k for Convenor salaries, physical facilities and 
other associated costs. 
 
School Library Service - Primary schools only: – It was proposed that the £285k be de-
delegated.  A rise of £5k on last year’s budget.  Of the 36 schools consulted on this proposal 35 
supported it (97%). 
 
Free school meals eligibility: This supports the admin costs of carrying out the eligibility 
assessment.  The proposed budget is the same as last year at £165k.  It is split into two per 
pupil rates:  £1.61 per individual pupil plus £3.76 per pupil in receipt of free school meals in the 
last six years.  The consultation response was 95% of primary and 88% of Secondary schools in 
favour. 
 
SIMs licences – primary school only: The total budget proposed for this year is £231k, an increase of £8k on 
last year.  A request was made as to whether the cost can be split so that those who do not use the FMS 
module do not have to pay for it.  It was acknowledge that this needs further review and it is hoped to 
assign an officer to look into SIMs licences in advance of the next renewal date.  The consultation response 
was 89% in favour. 

 

Page 7



 

4 | P a g e  
 

 
6.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.12 
 
 
 

 
 
6.13 
 

 

Behaviour support services:  To be kept at the same rate as last year, £108k.  The budget is for 
the Inclusion Support Team which is part of the Special Educational Needs Inclusion Team 
(SENIT).  The team undertake consultations with relevant adults (including parents), 
observations in the school setting, personalised intervention work, support for the 
development of individual behaviour plans and behaviour funding requests.  It is 
predominantly used in primary schools and for the transition between Primary and Secondary.  
Following the consultation 97% of Primary and 75% of Secondary schools supported the 
proposal. 
 
Support to underperforming ethnic minority groups and bilingual learners:  The proposed 

budget of £290k is a reduction of £10k compared to 2020/21.  The reduction has been possible 

due to an alternative funding source.  However it does not affect the service offer.  The 

consultation saw 100% of primary and 75% of secondary schools in support of the proposal. 

 

Results of Schools Forum Voting are as follows: 

Contingency and support for schools in financial difficulty All in favour 

Maternity and other cover All in favour 

Suspended staff cover All in favour 

Trade Union facilities All in favour 

School library service All in favour 

Free school means eligibility All in favour 

SIMs licences 5 in favour, 1 against 

Behaviour support service All in favour 

Support to underperforming ethnic minority groups and 
bilingual learners 
 

All in favour 

 

7 
7.1 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
7.3 
7.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3.2 
 
 
 
7.3.3 
 

School Funding Arrangements 21/22      
In November a report was brought to Schools Forum outlining the results of the recent 
consultation.  Receiving 49% of the votes Option One was the favoured option: 

A cap on gains of 3.18%. All other factors are in line with the national funding formula, 
including the minimum funding guarantee of 2.0%. 

   
As stated at the time the figures were provisional and subject to receipt of the final allocation.  
This was received in December.  The final Schools Block funding is now confirmed at £601.9M, 
an increase of £53M on last year.  Of this, £24.5M relates to teachers pay and pension grant 
which is rolled into the funding.    
 
Growth Fund 
Of the Growth Fund total of £2.659M, £2.159M will be funded from the Schools Block 2021/22 
allocation.  The remaining £500k is funded from the 2020/21 underspend.  The split of the 
fund is £1.002M for primary growth and £1.657M for secondary.  Included in the Growth Fund 
is an allocation for exceptional premises funding for schools incurring rental costs.   A 
disapplication request has been submitted to the DfE who has agreed it subject to Schools 
Forum approval. 
 
The growth funding is based on pupil growth between the two October censuses and as a 
result is lagged.   For next year the fund is £4.31M, down from the £5.03M received in 
2020/21.   
 
Pupil numbers increased by 1,153 between the 2019 and 2020 October census, this is a lower 
increase than the previous year and consequently funding is also lower.  The overall funding 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

5 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
7.3.4 
 
 
 
7.3.5 
 
 
 
 
7.4 
7.4.1 
 
 
 
7.4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
7.4.3 
 
 
7.4.4 
 
7.4.5 
 
 

 
7.4.6 
 
 
 
7.4.7 
 
 
 
7.4.8 
 
 
 
7.4.9 
 
 
7.4.10 
 
 
7.4.11 
 

requirement for growth in Leeds has increased for 2021/22 due to an increase in the need for 
secondary school places.  The growth funding calculation for 2021/22 is £5.464M, against the 
DfE allocation of £4.431M.   
 
The Forum is asked for approval for separate funding of £2.956M and £500k from the Schools 
Block.  Following a review an assumption has been made that there will not be an underspend 
this year. 
 
In relation to the new presumption free schools an amount of £200 per pupil is allocated for 
additional resource.  It is assumed that expanding schools already have the necessary 
resources available.  New schools will be eligible for £125k leadership fund in the first year.  
This is in line with ESFA costs.   
 
Central School Services Block 
This relates to funding received through the DSG for local authority statutory duties in both 
maintained and academy schools.  It brings together a number of funding resources for 
2021/22 which is allocated at £5.1M for Leeds.     
 
Retained duties element of the Education Services Grant:  This brings together some duties 
funded through the previous Education Services Grant (ESG).   It covers a wide variety of 
services eg strategy within Children and Families, finance work and educational.  The funding 
asked for from the DSG is a contribution towards the cost of these services.  In 2021/22 the 
cost proposed is £2.8M. 
 
It was noted that there is an outstanding vacancy for a Deputy Director Education.  It is 
expected that recruitment will be progressed to fill the post in September 2021.  
 
Education welfare: Focuses on exclusion of pupils and school attendance. 

Centrally employed teachers’ pension costs: The grant received for teachers’ pension costs is 
now rolled into the Central Schools Services Block funding.  It is not new funding but a new 
way of accounting for the monies.   

Historical Commitments:  This relates to a change in funding and the DfE making a 
commitment to continue to fund some services.  It is not possible to increase the amount of 
funding but a reduction of funding can be made.   
 
It was confirmed that the Headteachers’ Support Service will not see a reduction in funds and 
should there be a change in personnel in the future, the service will continue. 
Action:  to check that the Headteacher support service is also available to Secondary Heads. 
 
The allocation of £30k remains the same for the Carbon Reduction Officer.  This is not one 
person but it does provide a contribution to the team who undertake the work.  The amount is 
reviewed periodical and was reduced a number of years ago from the initial amount of £50k. 
 
It is proposed to fund the Admission Service again.  There will be a slight increase to take 
account of the pay award which was not budgeted for in 2020/21.   
 
Services of Schools Forum to be voted on in terms of inflationary increase on the year.  The 
amount proposed is in line with other local authorities. 
 
ESFA purchase licences for schools and they are charged to this block of funding.  We have no 
influence over this and as a result it is not subject to voting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LH 

Page 9



 

6 | P a g e  
 

 
7.4.12 
 
 
 
7.4.13 
 
 
7.4.14 

 
High Needs Block: more details will be brought to the February meeting.  The allocation has 
been confirmed and work is currently taking place on what this means in terms of demands 
and future pressures. 
 
Officers were thanked for all the work they had done in pulling together the reports.  Schools 
Forum was also thanked for the continued support. 
 
Results of the voting are as follows: 
 

Schools block funding formula: vote required to continue 

to include exceptional premises funding for rent within the 
funding formula as per the disapplication request to the DFE 

All in favour 

Growth Fund: vote to agree the total growth fund of £2,659k All in favour 

Growth Fund Criteria: vote to agree the overall growth fund 

criteria 
All in favour 

Former Education Services Grant retained duties 
£2,323,840 

All in favour 

Central employer teacher pension costs £216.070 All in favour 

Prudential Borrowing £515,000 All in favour 

Headteacher Support Service £54,410 All in favour 

School Support Staff training £19,000 22 in favour, 1 abstention 

Carbon Reduction Officer £30,000 19 in favour,  
2 abstentions, 2 not in favour 

Admissions Service £1,390,760 All in favour 

Schools Forum £31,140 All in favour 
 

 

8 Any Other Business 
None 
 

 

9 MEETING DATES FOR 2020-21 AND FORWARD PLAN 
All meetings will take commence at 1630 until 1830 
Thursday 25 February 2021 

- FFI and exceptions 
 

 

 

  

Page 10



 

7 | P a g e  
 

Appendix One 

 

Northpoint Counselling Data 

Quarter 4 data has not been submitted at present but over a three quarter period the data is as 
follows: 

For the period April 2020 – December 2020: 

 3,636 service hours were delivered to Parents/ Carers (pre-birth to 5 years) 

 1.093 clients accessed the service during this period  

 Of these clients, there were 44 children under 5 years within the family who were 
subject to a Child protection plan 

 On average, there are appx 50 clients on the waiting list during each quarter 
 

Impact as measured by the CORE IMS 

 Quarter 
One 

Quarter 
Two 

Quarter 
Three 

Clients reporting improved confidence as a result of accessing  
the  service                                      

87% 91% 94% 

Clients reporting that the service had helped met their 
needs                                                             

98% 100% 91% 

Clients recommending the 
service                                                                                                       
              

99% 100% 100% 

Clients reporting that their children had 
benefited                                                                                     

96% 100% 98% 

 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Report of the Director of Children and Families                                            

Report to the Leeds Schools Forum 

Date: 25th February 2021 

Subject: Revisions to the Leeds Scheme for Financing Schools 

Report Author: Lucie McAulay Contact telephone number:  0113 3788766 

 
 
Summary of main issues 
 

1 In July 2020 the DfE published the results of a national consultation on the ‘Financial 

transparency of local authority maintained schools and academy trusts’.  The 

consultation outlined the current financial transparency arrangements for maintained 

schools and academy trusts, and put forward a number of proposed changes.  

 

2 The DfE has updated the statutory guidance on schemes for financing local authority 

maintained schools for the 2020 to 2021 financial year with the changes within this 

consultation response. 

3 The changes to the scheme include the requirement for local authority schemes to 
include a requirement for schools to submit a 3-year budget forecast each year, and the 
directive for schools which have a deficit of over 5% to submit a recovery plan to the 
local authority. 

4 The DfE has previously consulted on the extension of the risk protection arrangements 
(RPA), which can provide some insurance for schools. Following the subsequent 
decision to allow local authority maintained schools to join this, the DfE have 
determined that the scheme should contain a provision which allows schools to join the 
RPA. 

Recommendations 

5 Schools Forum is asked to note the update of the Leeds City Council Scheme for 
Financing Schools to reflect the latest DfE statutory guidance and revisions. 

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

1 Background information 

1.1 Maintained schools, like academies, are funded by grant from the DfE (the Dedicated 
Schools Grant). Local authorities are the accountable body for maintained schools 
and, in line with national frameworks and guidance set by the DfE, monitor and 
intervene in these schools to reduce the risk of financial failure or misuse of funds. 
Each local authority has a scheme for financing schools which sets out the financial 
relationship between it and its maintained schools, and the DfE publishes guidance 
setting out what is required or permitted in schemes. 

1.2 In July 2020 the DFE published the results of a national consultation on the ‘Financial 
transparency of local authority maintained schools and academy trusts’.  The 
consultation outlined the current financial transparency arrangements for maintained 
schools and academy trusts, and put forward a number of proposed changes.  

1.3 As the current transparency measures used in academies are generally stronger than 
those in the maintained school sector, the consultation focused on using or adapting 
existing academy measures to help change and improve maintained schools’ financial 
transparency and financial health. 

1.4 The DfE has updated the statutory guidance on schemes for financing local authority 
maintained schools for the 2020 to 2021 financial year with the changes within this 
consultation response. 

1.5 Due to delays caused by COVID-19, and in order to provide schools with sufficient 
notice to comply with the new requirements, the changes to Issue 12 of the scheme for 
financing local authority maintained schools will take practical effect from 1 April 2021. 

2 Directed revisions to the Leeds Scheme for Financing Schools 

2.1 The Secretary of State may by a direction revise the whole or any part of the scheme 
as from such date as may be specified in the direction. In order to make a directed 
revision to schemes, the Secretary of State is required, by provisions in the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998, to consult the relevant local authorities and other 
interested parties. 

2.2 In response to the Transparency Consultation, directed revisions have made certain 
amendments to the wording to be included within the scheme to reflect the recent 
policy decisions. 

2.3 The revisions have directed that the following statements regarding the submission of 
financial statements and planning for deficit budgets should be incorporated into all 
local authority schemes.   

2.4 Submission of financial statements (section 2.3 of Scheme):  

‘From the 2021 to 2022 funding year each school must submit a 3-year budget 
forecast each year, at a date determined by the local authority between 1 May and 30 
June’. 

Page 14



3 
 

2.5 As part of the existing budget process we already require all Leeds maintained 
schools to produce a 3 year budget plan and so this revision will have no practical 
impact on Leeds maintained schools.   

2.6 Planning for deficit budgets (section 4.5 of Scheme) 

‘Schools must submit a recovery plan to the local authority when their revenue deficit 
rises above 5% at 31 March of any year. Local authorities may set a lower threshold 
than 5% for the submission of a recovery plan if they wish. The 5% deficit threshold 
will apply when deficits are measured as at 31 March 2021’. 

2.7 The current deficit threshold for Leeds maintained schools is set at a minimum of 3% 
of the school budget share. 

2.8 As an appendix to this report you will find a copy of the updated Leeds scheme for 
financing schools which now includes the revisions as referenced above. 

3 Other Changes to the Scheme 

3.1 In addition back in November 2019 the DfE consulted on the extension of the risk 
protection arrangement, subsequently the Secretary of State decided that from April 
2020 local authority maintained schools would be able to join the risk protection 
arrangement.  

3.2 The DfE has changed the guidance as below and although they have not had time to 
conduct a consultation on a directed revision they may do that later.  On this basis the 
DfE has determined that the scheme should contain a provision which allows schools 
to join the RPA after 1 April 2020. Schools may do this individually when any 
insurance contract of which they are part expires.  The scheme should also provide for 
all primary and/or secondary maintained schools to join the RPA collectively by 
agreeing through the schools forum to de-delegate funding. 

3.3 The Leeds scheme has been amended at section 10.2 to include the RPA provision. 

4 Communication to Schools 

4.1 We will ensure that all Leeds maintained schools are made aware of the amendments 
to the Leeds scheme for financing schools included within this report and a copy of the 
updated scheme will be available on the Leeds for Learning site. 

4.2 We intend to include this update within the next issued Financial Services to Schools 
update and Governors newsletter in addition to inclusion within the School admin 
session scheduled to take place in March.  

5 Recommendations 

5.1 Schools Forum is asked to note the revisions to the Leeds scheme for financing 
Schools to reflect the latest DfE statutory guidance. 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 

The Leeds Scheme for 
Financing Schools  

 
Made under Section 48 of the 

School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 

           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

School Funding Team 

Leeds City Council 
 

April 2021 

Page 17



 

 2 

CONTENTS 

 
 
The Outline Scheme 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
1.1  The funding framework 
1.2  The role of the scheme 
1.2.1 Application of the scheme to the City Council and maintained schools 
1.3  Publication of the scheme 
1.4  Revision of the scheme 
1.5  Delegation of powers to the head teacher 
1.6  Maintenance of schools 
 
2. FINANCIAL CONTROLS 
2.1.1  Application of financial controls to schools 
2.1.2  Provision of financial information and reports 
2.1.3  Payment of salaries; payment of bills 
2.1.4  Control of assets 
2.1.5  Accounting policies (including year-end procedures) 
2.1.6  Writing off of debts 
2.2  Basis of accounting 
2.3  Submission of budget plans 
2.3.1  Submission of financial forecasts 
2.4  Efficiency and value for money 
2.5  Virement 
2.6  Audit: General 
2.7  Separate external audits 
2.8  Audit of voluntary and private funds 
2.9  Register of business interests 
2.10  Purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements 
2.11  Application of contracts to schools 
2.12  Central funds and earmarking 
2.13  Spending for the purposes of the school 
2.14  Capital spending from budget shares 
2.15  Notice of concern 
2.16  Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) 
2.17  Fraud 
 
3. INSTALMENTS OF BUDGET SHARE; BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 
3.1  Frequency of instalments 
3.2  Proportion of budget share payable at each instalment 
3.3  Interest clawback 
3.3.1  Interest on late budget share payments 
3.4  Budget shares for closing schools 
3.5  Bank and building society accounts 
3.5.1  Restrictions on accounts 
3.6  Borrowing by schools 
3.7  Other provisions 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

 3 

4. THE TREATMENT OF SURPLUSES AND DEFICIT BALANCES ARISING IN RELATION TO 
BUDGET SHARES 
4.1  Right to carry forward surplus balances 
4.2  Controls on surplus balances 
4.3  Interest on surplus balances 
4.4  Obligation to carry forward deficit balances 
4.5  Planning for deficit budgets 
4.6  Charging of interest on deficit balances 
4.7  Writing off deficits 
4.8  Balances of closing and replacement schools 
4.9  Licensed deficits 
 
5. INCOME 
5.1  Income from lettings 
5.2  Income from fees and charges 
5.3  Income from fund-raising activities 
5.4  Income from the sale of assets 
5.5  Administrative procedures for the collection of income 
5.6  Purposes for which income may be used 
 
6. THE CHARGING OF SCHOOL BUDGET SHARES 
6.1  General provision 
6.2  Circumstances in which charges may be made 
 
7. TAXATION 
7.1  Value Added Tax 
7.2  Construction Industry Tax Scheme 
 
8. THE PROVISION OF SERVICES AND FACILITIES BY THE CITY COUNCIL 
8.1  Provision of services from centrally retained budgets 
8.2  Provision of services bought back from the City Council using delegated budgets 
8.2.1  Packaging 
8.3  Service level agreements 
8.4  Teachers Pensions 
 
9. PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE / PRIVATE PUBLIC PARTNERSHIPS 
 
10. INSURANCE 
10.1  Insurance cover 
10.2 Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA) 
 
11. MISCELLANEOUS 
11.1  Right of access to information 
11.2  Liability of governors 
11.3  Governors’ expenses 
11.4  Responsibility for legal costs 
11.5  Health and Safety 
11.6  Right of attendance for the Chief Finance Officer 
11.7  Special Educational Needs 
11.8  Whistleblowing 
11.9  Child protection 
11.10  Redundancy and early retirement costs 
 
12. RESPONSIBILITY FOR REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 
12.1  Categories of work 
12.2  Delegation 
 

Page 19



 

 4 

 
13. COMMUNITY FACILITIES  
13.1  Introduction 
13.2  Consultation with the City Council – financial aspects 
13.3  Funding agreement – authority powers 
13.4  Other prohibitions, restrictions and limitations 
13.5    Supply of financial information 
13.6    Audit 
13.7    Treatment of income and surpluses 
13.8    Treatment of deficits 
13.9    Health and safety matters 
13.10   Insurance 
13.11  Taxation 
13.12   Banking 
 
 
 
Appendix A – Responsibility for redundancy and early retirement costs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 

 5 

The Outline Scheme 
 
References throughout this statutory guidance to: 
 
‘the Act’ are to the School Standards and Framework Act 1998;  
‘the authority’ means Leeds City Council; 
‘the Regulations’ are the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2020. 
 
The Regulations state that schemes must deal with the following matters: 
 

1. The carrying forward from one funding period to another of surpluses and deficits 
arising in relation to schools’ budget shares. 

 
2. Amounts which may be charged against schools’ budget shares. 
 
3. Amounts received by schools which may be retained by their governing bodies and the 

purposes for which such amounts may be used. 
 
4. The imposition, by or under the scheme, of conditions which must be complied with by 

schools in relation to the management of their delegated budgets and of sums made 
available to governing bodies by the authority which do not form part of delegated 
budgets, including conditions prescribing financial controls and procedures. 

 
5. Terms on which services and facilities are provided by the authority for schools 

maintained by them. 
 
6. The payment of interest by or to the authority. 
 
7. The times at which amounts equal in total to the school’s budget share are to be made 

available to governing bodies and the proportion of the budget share to be made 
available at each such time. 

 
8. The virement between budget heads within the delegated budget. 
 
9. Circumstances in which a local authority may delegate to the governing body the 

power to spend any part of the authority’s non-schools education budget or schools 
budget in addition to those set out in section 49(4)(a) to (c) of the 1998 Act. 

 
10. The use of delegated budgets and of sums made available to a governing body by the 

local authority, which do not form part of delegated budgets. 
 
11. Borrowing by governing bodies. 
 
12. The banking arrangements that may be made by governing bodies. 
 
13. A statement as to the personal liability of governors in respect of schools’ budget 

shares having regard to Section 50(7) of the 1998 Act. 
 
14. A statement as to the allowances payable to governors of a school which does not 

have a delegated budget in accordance with the Scheme made by the authority for the 
purposes of Section 519 of the 1996 Act.   

 
15. The keeping of a register of any business interests of the governors and the head 

teacher.  
 

 
16. The provision of information by and to the governing body. 

Page 21



 

 6 

 
17. The maintenance of inventories of assets. 
 
18. Plans of a governing body’s expenditure. 
 
19. A statement as to the taxation of sums paid or received by a governing body.  
 
20. Insurance. 
 
21. The use of delegated budgets by governing bodies so as to satisfy the authority’s 

duties imposed by or under the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974. 
 
22. The provision of legal advice to a governing body.  
 
23. Funding for child protection issues. 
 
24. How complaints by persons working at a school or by school governors about financial 

management or financial propriety at the school will be dealt with and to whom such 
complaints should be made.  

 
25. Expenditure incurred by a governing body in the exercise of the power conferred by 

Section 27 of the 2002 Act. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 7 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Funding Framework 
 

The funding framework which replaces Local Management of Schools is set out in the 
legislative provisions in sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  

Under this legislation, local authorities determine for themselves the size of their schools 
budget and their non-schools education budget – although at a minimum an authority must 
appropriate its entire Dedicated Schools Grant to their schools budget. The categories of 
expenditure which fall within the two budgets are prescribed under regulations made by the 
Secretary of State, but included within the two, taken together, is all expenditure, direct and 
indirect, on an authority's maintained schools except for capital and certain miscellaneous 
items. Authorities may deduct funds from their schools budget for purposes specified in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under s.45A of the Act (the centrally retained 
expenditure). The amounts to be deducted for these purposes are decided by the authority 
concerned, subject to any limits or conditions (including gaining the approval of their Schools 
Forum or the Secretary of State in certain instances) as prescribed by the Secretary of State. 
The balance of the schools budget left after deduction of the centrally retained expenditure is 
termed the Individual Schools Budget (ISB). Expenditure items in the non-schools education 
budget must be retained centrally (although earmarked allocations may be made to schools).  

Authorities must distribute the ISB amongst their maintained schools using a formula which 
accords with regulations made by the Secretary of State, and enables the calculation of a 
budget share for each maintained school. This budget share is then delegated to the 
governing body of the school concerned, unless the school is a new school which has not yet 
received a delegated budget, or the right to a delegated budget has been suspended in 
accordance with s.51 of the Act. The financial controls within which delegation works are set 
out in a scheme made by the authority in accordance with s.48 of the Act and regulations 
made under that section. All proposals to revise the scheme must be approved by the 
Schools Forum, though the authority may apply to the Secretary of State for approval in the 
event of the forum rejecting a proposal or approving it subject to modifications that are not 
acceptable to the authority.  

Subject to any provision made by or under the scheme, governing bodies of schools may 
spend such amounts of their budget shares as they think fit for any purposes of their school* 
and for any additional purposes prescribed by the Secretary of State in regulations made 
under s.50 of the Act. (*Section 50 has been amended to provide that amounts spent by a 
governing body on providing community facilities or services under section 27 of the 
Education Act 2002 are treated as if they were amounts spent for the purposes of the school 
(s50(3A) of the Act.)  

An authority may suspend a school's right to a delegated budget if the provisions of the 
authority’s financial scheme (or rules applied by the scheme) have been substantially or 
persistently breached, or if the budget share has not been managed satisfactorily. A school's 
right to a delegated budget share may also be suspended for other reasons (schedule17 to 
the Act)  

Each authority is obliged to publish each year a statement setting out details of its planned 
Schools Budget and other expenditure on children’s services, showing the amounts to be 
centrally retained and funding delegated to schools. After each financial year the authority 
must publish a statement showing outturn expenditure at both central level and for each 
school, and the balances held in respect of each school.  

Page 23



 

 8 

The detailed publication requirements for financial statements are set out in directions issued 
by the Secretary of State, but each school must receive a copy of each year's budget and 
outturn statements so far as they relate to that school or central expenditure.  

Regulations also require a local authority to publish their scheme and any revisions to it on a 
website accessible to the general public, by the date that any revisions come into force, 
together with a statement that the revised scheme comes into force on that date. 
 
1.2 The role of the scheme 
 
The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the City Council and the maintained 
schools which it funds. Contained within the scheme are requirements relating to financial 
management and associated issues, binding on both the City Council and on schools.  
 
1.2.1 Application of the scheme to the City Council and maintained schools 
 
The scheme applies in respect of all community, nursery, special, voluntary, foundation (including 
trust), community special or foundation special schools and pupil referral units (PRUs) 
maintained by the City Council. It does not apply to schools situated in Leeds which are 
maintained by another authority, nor does it apply to academies. 
 
1.3 Publication of the scheme 
 
The scheme will be available on the Leeds City Council website together with a statement as to 
when it came into force. An electronic copy of the scheme will be supplied to the head teacher 
and governing body of each school covered by the scheme, and any approved revisions will be 
notified to each school in accordance with the regulations. 
 
1.4 Revision of the scheme 
 
Any proposed revisions to the scheme will be the subject of consultation with the governing body 
and the head teacher of every school maintained by the authority before they are submitted to 
the Schools Forum for approval, apart from any revisions that are the result of a direction by the 
Secretary of State. 
 
1.5 Delegation of powers to the head teacher 
 
Each governing body is required to consider the extent to which it wishes to delegate its financial 
powers to the head teacher, and to record its decision (and any revisions) in the minutes of the 
governing body. The first formal budget plan of each financial year must be approved by the 
governing body, or a committee of the governing body. The delegation of financial powers should 
be reviewed at least annually and where there is a new head teacher, at the earliest opportunity. 
Guidance is set out in the Finance Manual for schools. 
 
1.6 Maintenance of schools 
 
The City Council is responsible for maintaining the schools covered by the scheme, and this 
includes the duty of defraying all the expenses of maintaining them (except in the case of a 
voluntary school where some of the expenses are, by statute, payable by the governing body). 
Part of the way in which the City Council maintains schools is through the funding system put into 
place under sections 45 to 53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

 9 

SECTION 2: FINANCIAL CONTROLS  
 
2.1.1 Application of financial controls to schools 
 
Schools are required to abide in the management of their delegated budgets by the City Council's 
requirements on financial controls and monitoring, not only those in the scheme but also those 
requirements contained in more detailed publications referred to in the scheme but outside and 
compatible with it.  
 
2.1.2 Provision of financial information and reports 
 
Schools are required to provide the City Council with details of anticipated and actual expenditure 
and income, in a form and at times determined by the City Council.  
However, schools are not required to submit such details more often than once every three 
months except for those connected with tax or banking reconciliation - unless the City Council 
has notified the school in writing that in its view the school’s financial position requires more 
frequent submission or the school is in its first year of operation. This restriction to a minimum 3 
month interval does not apply to schools which are part of an online financial accounting system 
(FMS Leeds) operated by the LA. 
 
2.1.3 Payment of salaries; payment of bills 
 
Payment of salaries and payment of bills shall be in accordance with procedures detailed in the 
Finance Manual for schools, and procedures published by the Business Support Centre and HR. 
  
2.1.4 Control of assets 
 
Each school must maintain an inventory of its moveable non-capital assets, in a form to be 
determined by the Chief Finance Officer of the City Council, and follow the basic authorisation 
procedures for disposal of assets laid down. Detailed procedures are contained in the Finance 
Manual for schools. Schools are allowed to determine the form of register maintained for assets 
worth less than £1,000, but must keep a register in some form. 
 
2.1.5 Accounting Policies (including year-end procedures) 
 
Schools are required to abide by procedures specified by the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
2.1.6 Writing off of debts 
 
Procedures to be followed for the write-off of debts are contained in the Financial Regulations for 
Schools, within the Finance Manual for Schools. 
 
2.2 Basis of accounting 
 
Reports and accounts furnished to the LA by a school will be on an accruals basis. 
 
2.3 Submission of budget plans 
 
Once a school has been notified of its school budget share, it is the responsibility of the 
Governing Body to set and approve the school’s budget for the coming financial year. 
 
The Director of Children’s Services will, through a service level agreement, provide advice and 
support to schools for this process including budget preparation guidance notes and a proforma 
set of budget preparation papers. 
 

Page 25



 

 10 

A copy of the approved budget, certified by the Chair of the Governing Body, is to be returned to 
the Director of Children’s Services by the required date, which will be notified each year. The 
formal budget plan will not be required to be submitted before 1 May. 
 
Details of the approved budget should be entered into the school’s management information 
system so financial control can begin immediately. Any adjustments to the approved budget 
during the financial year must be notified to the Director of Children’s Services. 
 
The Director of Children’s Services will ensure that the approved budget of each school is 
entered into the City Council’s Financial Management System (FMS Leeds). 
 
The City Council will supply schools with all school income and expenditure data which it holds 
which is necessary to efficient planning by schools, and supply schools with an annual statement 
showing when this information will be available.  Schools will be allowed to take account of 
estimated deficits/surpluses at the previous 31st March in their budget plan. 
 
The school’s formal annual budget plan must be approved by the governing body or a committee 
of the governing body. Any revisions to the annual budget must be submitted to the City Council 
no later than every three months. 
 
Submission of financial forecasts 

 
From the 2021 to 2022 funding year each school must submit a 3-year budget forecast each 
year, at a date determined by the local authority between 1 May and 30 June. 
 
Such a forecast may be used as evidence to support the LA’s balance control mechanism or 
viability of deficit action plans. 
 
2.4 Efficiency and value for money 
 
Schools must seek to achieve efficiencies and value for money, to optimise the use of their 
resources and to invest in teaching and learning, taking into account the Authority’s purchasing, 
tendering and contracting requirements.  
 
It is for heads and governors to determine at school level how to secure better value for money. 
 
2.5 Virement  
 
Virement is the transferring of budgetary provision between one budget head and another after 
the budget has been approved. 
 
Governing bodies are free to do this at any time but must ensure that there is sufficient left in the 
original budget head to meet known commitments or statutory provision. 
 
In order to ensure the efficient running of the school, governing bodies are encouraged to 
delegate some of this responsibility to the head teacher and/or others, so that virement up to a 
predetermined amount may take place without prior consultation with the governing body. 
 
Governing bodies should set this virement level annually at the time of budget approval. 
Guidelines for this will be issued annually, within the budget preparation papers. 
 
2.6 Audit: General 
 
The accounts of a school, being part of the overall accounts of the City Council, will be subject to 
Internal and External Audit.  
 

Page 26



 

 11 

Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Accounts and Audit Regulations, 
the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) shall maintain an effective internal audit of the accounts of the 
council. In so doing the CFO shall review, appraise and report on: 
 

 the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of financial and other management controls 
 

 the extent of compliance with, relevance and financial effect of, established policies, plans and 
procedures 

 

 the extent to which an organisation’s assets and interests are accounted for and safeguarded 
from losses of all kinds arising from 

1. fraud and other offences 
2. waste, extravagance, inefficient administration, poor value for money or any other 

cause. 
 

 the suitability and reliability of financial and other data produced within the organisation. 
 
In order to fulfil this responsibility the CFO or representative, and External Auditor shall have 
authority to: 
 

 enter at all reasonable times on any council premises or land, and any part of any school 
maintained by the City Council under this scheme; 

 

 have access to all records, documents, data held on computer media and correspondence, or 
unofficial funds operated by an employee as part of their duties; 

 

 require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter under 
examination; 

 

 require any employee of the council or of the governing body to produce cash, stores or any 
other Council property under his/her control, belonging to the council or held as part of the 
employee’s duties; 

 
Whenever any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve, irregularities concerning 
cash, stores or any other property of the council (including unofficial funds), the Directors of 
Children’s Services and Finance must be notified immediately. 
 
2.7 Separate external audits 
 
A governing body may spend funds from its budget share to obtain external audit certification of 
its accounts, separate from any City Council internal or external audit process. 
 
2.8 Audit of voluntary and private funds 
 
Schools are required to provide annual independent inspection statements in respect of voluntary 
and private funds held by them and audit certificates in respect of the accounts of any trading 
organisations administered by school staff as part of their normal duties or controlled by the 
school. A school refusing to provide audit certificates to the authority is in breach of the scheme 
and authority can take action on that basis. Further guidance on school fund accounting can be 
found in the Finance Manual for schools. 
 
2.9 Register of business interests 
 
The governing body of each school is maintain a register which lists for each member of the 
governing body and the head teacher, any business interests they or any member of their 
immediate family have; to keep the register up to date with notification of changes and through 
annual review of entries, and to make the register available for inspection by governors, staff, 

Page 27



 

 12 

parents and the Director of Children’s Services, Chief Finance Officer or their representative. A 
pro-forma and definition of interests can be found in the Finance Manual for schools. 
 
2.10 Purchasing, tendering and contracting requirements 
 
Schools are required to abide by the City Council’s financial regulations and standing orders for 
schools in purchasing, tendering and contracting matters. The full documents are contained in 
the Finance Manual for schools. 
 
Purchasing: 
Governing bodies are free to purchase goods and services from any source, unless they are 
bound by a contractual obligation in section 2.11 below. However, governing bodies will be 
expected to obtain value for money by way of price, quality and convenience for the school at all 
times. Furthermore, they must always have due regard for the proper accountability and control 
over the expenditure of public funds. There is also a requirement to assess in advance, where 
relevant, the health and safety competence of contractors, taking account of the City Council’s 
policies and procedures. 
 
The specific requirements regarding contracts for goods and services, including the necessary 
arrangements relating to obtaining quotations or tenders, are contained in the Leeds City Council 
Procurement Handbook for schools. 
 
Ordering and Commitments: 
The school will be the source of orders, but their format and preparation shall be as approved by 
the Chief Finance Officer. 
 
As the signing of an order commits a school to that expenditure, it is necessary that the 
governing body officially authorise those members of staff who may do this. They should be 
senior staff and wherever possible they should be different from those authorised to certify 
invoices for payment. The same person must not sign the order and the corresponding invoice. 
 
The signing of an order is deemed to cover the following: 
 

 that the goods or services are necessary for the discharge of the responsibilities and functions 
of the school 

 

 that there is provision in the school’s budget for the item being ordered 
 

 that financial regulations and standing orders with respect to contracts have been followed. 
 
Upon the placing of an order it is essential that the value of the order is committed against the 
appropriate heading in the school budget. Under normal circumstances the school’s 
computerised management system will do that automatically, but where that is not in use manual 
records should be updated at the time of ordering. 
 
Schools will not be required: 
 

a) to do anything incompatible with any of the provisions of the scheme, or any statutory 
provision, or any EU Procurement Directive; 

 
b) to seek LA officer countersignature for any contracts for good or services for a value 

below £60,000 in any one year; 
 
c) to select suppliers only from an approved list. 

 
 
 

Page 28



 

 13 

Schools will be required: 
 

d) to seek at least three tenders in respect of any contract with a value exceeding £20,000 
in any one year. (Whilst not seeking formal tenders, schools should be obtaining Value 
for Money in all purchases through the use of written quotations and/or the use of 
approved suppliers, following requirements held in the Procurement Handbook for 
Schools). 

 
 
The City Council will inform schools of approved suppliers. 
 
2.11 Application of contracts to schools 
 
Schools have a right to opt out of LA-arranged contracts. However, the financial interest of the 
City Council is protected under section 6 of this scheme. 

 
Although governing bodies are empowered under paragraph 3 of schedule 1 to the Education Act 
2002 to enter into contracts, in most cases they do so on behalf of the LA as maintainer of the 
school and the owner of the funds in the budget share.  
Other contracts may be made solely on behalf of the governing body, when the governing body 
has clear statutory obligations – for example, contracts made by aided or foundation schools for 
the employment of staff. 
 
2.12 Central funds and earmarking 
 
The LA may make sums available to schools from central funds, in the form of allocations which 
are additional to and separate from the schools' budget shares. Such allocations will be subject 
to conditions setting out the purpose or purposes for which the funds may be used; and while 
these conditions need not preclude virement (except, of course, where the funding is supported 
by a specific grant which the LA itself is not permitted to vire); this should not be carried to the 
point of assimilating the allocations into the school's budget share. Earmarked funds must be 
returned to the LA if not spent in-year, or within the period over which schools are allowed to use 
the funding if different.  
 
It is a requirement that any such earmarked funding from centrally retained funds is spent only on 
the purposes for which it is given, or on other budget heads for which earmarked funding is given, 
and is not vired into the budget share. Governing bodies will maintain an accounting system to be 
able to demonstrate that this requirement has been complied with. 
The LA will not make any deduction, in respect of interest costs to the LA, from payments to 
schools of devolved specific or special grant. 
 
2.13 Spending for the purposes of the school 
 
Under section 50(3) of the SSAF Act 1998 governing bodies are allowed to spend budget shares 
for the purposes of the school, subject to any provisions of the scheme.  
The Secretary of State may prescribe additional purposes for which expenditure of the budget 
share may occur. By virtue of section 50(3A) (which came into force on 1st April 2011), amounts 
spent by governing bodies on community facilities or services under section 27 of the Education 
Act 2002 will be treated as if spent for any purposes of the school.  
 
2.14 Capital spending from budget shares 
 
Governing bodies are allowed to use their budget shares to meet the cost of capital expenditure 
on the school premises. This includes expenditure by the governing body of a voluntary aided 
school on work which is their responsibility under paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 of the SSAF Act 
1998. However, the governing body must notify the LA of any capital spending from budget 
shares, and, if the expected capital expenditure from the budget share in any one year will 

Page 29



 

 14 

exceed £15,000, take into account any advice from the Director of Children’s Services as to the 
merits of the proposed expenditure. If the premises and/or land are owned by the LA then the 
governing body must seek the consent of the LA to the proposed works, but such consent can be 
withheld only on health and safety grounds. 
 
In seeking the consent of the LA the school should provide the following, in writing, to the Director 
of Children’s Services: 
 

1) details of the proposal; 
2) details of how the proposal will be financed (including any continuing revenue costs); 
3) evidence of agreement to the above by a resolution of the full governing body. 

 
For all schools covered by the scheme, any additional floor area created by work proposed by a 
school will only be included in the overall area funded if the Director of Children’s Services 
confirms that the construction is necessary to improve the efficient provision of education. 
 
2.15 Notice of concern 
 
The City Council may issue a notice of concern to the governing body of any school it maintains 
where, in the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer and the Director of Children’s Services, the 
school has failed to comply with any provisions of the scheme, or where actions need to be taken 
to safeguard the financial position of the City Council or the school. 
 
Such a notice will set out the reasons and evidence for it being made and may place on the 
governing body restrictions, limitations or prohibitions in relation to the management of funds 
delegated to it. 
These may include: 
 

 insisting that relevant staff undertake appropriate training to address any identified 
weaknesses in the financial management of the school; 

 insisting that an appropriately trained/qualified person chairs the finance committee of the 
governing body; 

 placing more stringent restrictions or conditions on the day to day financial management of a 
school than the scheme requires for all schools – such as the provision of monthly accounts 
to the City Council; 

 insisting on  regular financial monitoring meetings at the school attended by City Council 
officers; 

 requiring a governing body to use City Council’s financial management systems; and 

 imposing restrictions or limitations on the manner in which a school manages extended 
school activity funded from within its delegated budget share (e.g. by requiring a school to 
submit income projections and/or financial monitoring reports on such activities). 

The notice will clearly state what these requirements are and the way in which and the time by 
which such requirements must be complied with in order for the notice to be withdrawn.  It will 
also state the actions that the City Council may take where the governing body does not comply 
with the notice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

 15 

2.16 Schools Financial Value Standard (SFVS) 
 
All local authority maintained schools (including nursery schools and pupil referral units that have 
a delegated budget) must demonstrate compliance with the Schools Financial Value Standard 
(SFVS) and complete the assessment form on an annual basis.  It is for the school to determine 
at what time in the year they wish to complete the form. 
 
Governors must demonstrate compliance through the submission of the SFVS assessment form 
signed by the Chair of Governors.  The form must include a summary of remedial actions with a 
clear timetable, ensuring that each action has a specified deadline and an agreed owner. 
Governors must monitor the progress of all actions to ensure they are cleared within specified 
deadlines. 
 
2.17 Fraud 
 
All schools must have a robust system of controls to safeguard themselves against fraudulent or 
improper use of public money and assets.   
 
The governing body and head teacher must inform all staff of school policies and procedures 
related to fraud and theft, the controls in place to prevent them; and the consequences of 
breaching these controls.  This information must also be included in induction for new school staff 
and governors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

 16 

 
SECTION 3: INSTALMENTS OF THE BUDGET SHARE; BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
Leeds City Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities and schools covered by the scheme must act within the code. 
 
All schools have four options for their banking arrangements 
 

1) To maintain a bank account with the LA, with a petty cash imprest account for small 
urgent items of expenditure; 

2) To maintain a bank account with the LA, and a local cheque book facility operated through 
an imprest account; 

3) To maintain an external bank account through which all expenditure is charged, excluding 
payroll and rates; 

4) To maintain an external bank account through which all expenditure is charged. 
 

 
3.1 Frequency of instalments 
 
Schools opting for an external bank account will have their budget share made available on a 
monthly basis.  Schools not opting for an external bank account will be able to draw on their 
entire budget share from the start of the year. Top-up payments for pupils with high needs will be 
made monthly unless alternative arrangements have been agreed. 
 
3.2 Proportion of budget share payable at each instalment 
 
The proportion of the budget share payable at each instalment will be based on an agreed profile. 
Where a school is operating an account for expenditure excluding payroll and rates, the initial 
estimate of pay costs will be based on the staffing complement of the school as at January prior 
to the start of the year. 
 
3.3 Interest clawback 
 
The LA will deduct from budget share instalments an amount equal to the estimated interest lost 
by the LA in making available the budget share in advance. The calculation basis of the 
deduction is shown below: 
 

amount of the advance x prevailing interest rate x No of days interest lost/365 days 
 
Where a school has determined to have its whole budget share paid into an account on a 
monthly basis, advances will be made at a date close to that on which salaries are due. 
 
3.3.1 Interest on late budget share payments 
 
The LA will add interest to late payments of budget share instalments, where such late payment 
is the result of LA error. The interest rate used will be that used for clawback calculations.  
 
3.4 Budget shares for closing schools 
 
Budget shares of schools for which approval for discontinuation has been secured, will be made 
available until closure on a monthly basis net of estimated pay costs, even where some different 
basis was previously used. 
 
3.5 Bank and building society accounts 
 
All maintained schools are permitted to have external bank accounts into which their budget 
share instalments (as determined by other provisions) are paid. Where schools have such 

Page 32



 

 17 

accounts they shall be allowed to retain all interest payable on the account unless they choose to 
have an account within an LA contract which makes other provision.  
 
New bank account arrangements may only be made with effect from the beginning of each 
financial year. Any school requesting a bank account shall not be able to have one until any 
deficit is cleared.  
 
Schools will be responsible for all charges arising from the operation of external bank accounts. 
If a school opens an external bank account the LA will, if the school desires, transfer immediately 
to the account an amount agreed by both school and LA as the estimated surplus balance held 
by the LA in respect of the school’s budget share, on the basis that there is then a subsequent 
correction when accounts for the relevant year are closed. 
 
3.5.1 Restrictions on accounts 
 
Bank accounts may only be established with a bank or financial institution chosen from a list of 
organisations approved for the purpose by the Chief Finance Officer (unless a facility already 
exists at the commencement of the scheme with a bank or financial institution not on the list). A 
list of banks currently approved can be provided by the Chief Finance Officer . Accounts should 
be opened in the name of Leeds City Council with reference to the individual school or 
alternatively in the name of the school if the school wishes it. If a school has such an account the 
scheme requires that the account mandate should provide that the LA is the owner of the funds in 
the account; that it is entitled to receive statements; and that it can take control of the account if 
the school’s right to a delegated budget is suspended by the LA.  
 
Only LA employees and school employees are to be signatories for bank accounts operated 
under this scheme. 
 
Any school closing an account used to receive its budget share and opening another must select 
the new bank or financial institution from the approved list, even if the closed account was not 
with an institution on that list. 

 
3.6 Borrowing by schools 
 
Governing bodies are only permitted to borrow money with the written permission of the 
Secretary of State. Any investment or borrowing must be in accordance with the code of practice 
on treasury management 
 
Schools may not use credit cards, which are regarded as borrowing. The use of Procurement 
cards is allowed as a means of facilitating electronic purchase (contact the Business Support 
Centre). 
 
These restrictions do not apply to Trustees and Foundations, whose borrowing as a private body, 
makes no impact on Government accounts. These debts may not be serviced directly from the 
delegated budget but schools are free to agree a charge for a service which Trustees or 
Foundations are able to provide as a consequence of their own borrowing. Governing bodies do 
not act as agents of the authority when repaying loans. 
 
The DfE can provide further advice via their website: www.education.gov.uk/contactus 
 
 
3.7 Other provisions 
 
Detailed guidance notes will be contained in the Finance Manual for schools which will cover 
requirements relating to the administration of external bank accounts including; 
 

Page 33



 

 18 

Payroll administration - including National Insurance, Superannuation, Aggregation of Earnings 
and other payroll related items 
 
Accounting returns - to enable details of budget plans and transactions to be entered into the 
City Council’s accounts 
 
VAT – the completion of required returns and compliance with Customs and Excise Regulations 
 
Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 - compliance with these regulations 
 
Construction Industry Tax Deduction Scheme – compliance with these regulations 
 
Bank reconciliations - completion as required in a format as determined by the Chief Finance 
Officer 
 
Detailed guidance notes will also be issued covering requirements relating to the administration 
of a local cheque book facility through an imprest account and also relating to petty cash 
imprests. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

 19 

SECTION 4: THE TREATMENT OF SURPLUS AND DEFICIT BALANCES ARISING IN 
RELATION TO BUDGET SHARES 
 
4.1 Right to carry forward surplus balances 
 
Schools will be allowed to carry forward from one financial year to the next any shortfall in 
expenditure relative to the school's budget share for the year plus/minus any balance brought 
forward from the previous year. 
 
The amount of any balance to be transferred to a school’s bank account will be estimated based 
on the balance as per the City Council’s Financial Management System (FMS) as at 1st April, 
adjusted for any known transactions relating to the previous year’s accounts. The transfer would 
take place by 16th April, pending a later reconciliation. 
 
4.2 Controls on surplus balances 
 
The Local Authority retains the power to clawback excess surplus balances. This will be applied  
having regard to the principle that schools should be moving towards greater autonomy, should 
not be constrained from making early efficiencies to support their medium-term budgeting in a 
tighter financial climate, and should not be burdened by bureaucracy. The mechanism is focused 
on only those schools which have built up significant excessive uncommitted balances and/or 
where some level of redistribution would support improved provision across a local area.  
 
Surplus balances held by schools as permitted under this scheme are subject to the following 
restrictions with effect from 31st March 2013: 
 

a)        the City Council shall calculate by 31 May each year the surplus balance, if any, held 
by each school as at the preceding 31 March. For this purpose the balance will be the 
recurrent balance as defined in the Consistent Financial Reporting Framework; 

 
b)        the City Council shall deduct from the calculated balance any amounts that are held 

by an individual school on behalf of a partnership of schools, for instance funds held 
on behalf of an inclusion partnership or cluster of schools; 

 
c) if the result of steps a-b is a sum greater than 15% of the current year's budget share 

and the balance has remained greater than 15% over three successive years then 
the City Council may deduct from the current year's budget share an amount equal to 
the excess, where schools have built up significant excessive uncommitted balances 
and/or where some level of redistribution would support improved provision across 
the local area. 

 
Funds deriving from sources other than the City Council will be taken into account in this 
calculation if paid into the budget share account of the school, whether under provisions in this 
scheme or otherwise. 
 
Funds held in relation to a school's exercise of powers under section 27 of the Education Act 
2002 (community facilities) will not be taken into account unless added to the budget share 
surplus by the school as permitted by the City Council.  
 
Whilst no excess balance will be recovered where a balance is over 15% for less than three 
years all schools with balances over 15% will be required to submit a statement covering the 
anticipated use of the balance. 
 
Where any School meets the threshold under (c) above having carried forward a balance of over 
15% for three years a panel of members of the Schools Forum will review the reasons for holding 
the balance and make a recommendation to the Director of Children’s Services regarding any 
proposed clawback. 

Page 35



 

 20 

The total of any amounts deducted from schools' budget shares by the City Council under this 
provision are to be applied to the Schools Budget of the City Council. 
 
4.3 Interest on surplus balances 
 
Balances held by the City Council on behalf of schools will not attract interest.  
 
4.4 Obligation to carry forward deficit balances 
 
Any deficit will be carried forward and be deducted from the following year's budget share (see 
also 4.9). 
 
4.5 Planning for deficit budgets 
 
Schools may plan for deficits only in certain approved circumstances (see 4.9) 
 
Schools must submit a recovery plan to the local authority when their revenue deficit rises above 
5% at 31 March of any year. Local authorities may set a lower threshold than 5% for the 
submission of a recovery plan if they wish. The 5% deficit threshold will apply when deficits are 
measured as at 31 March 2021 
 
4.6 Charging of interest on deficit balances 
 
Interest will not be charged on deficit balances. 
 
4.7 Writing off deficits 
 
The City Council cannot write off the deficit balance of any school, but assistance towards the 
elimination of a deficit balance can be provided through the allocation of a cash sum from the 
authority’s schools budget under the centrally-held de-delegated schools in financial difficulties 
budget agreed by Schools Forum. 
 
4.8 Balances of closing and replacement schools 
 
When a school closes, any balance (whether surplus or deficit) reverts to the LA. It cannot be 
transferred as a balance to any other school, even where the school is a successor to the closing 
school, except that a surplus transfers to an academy where a school converts to academy 
status under section 4(1)(a) of the Academies Act 2010.  
 
4.9 Licensed deficits  
 
In certain circumstances schools will be allowed to plan for a deficit budget. 
 
Detailed guidance on the procedure to be undertaken is held within the Finance Manual for 
schools, however the following principles will hold: 
 

a) A school must reach at least a zero balance within a three year period, and progress 
towards this position will be open to termly review to ensure that the deficits are not 
simply extended indefinitely; 
 
b) Deficits will only be agreed where the Director of Children’s Services agrees it would be 
impractical to balance the budget in year; 
 
c) The maximum size of the deficit which may be agreed for any school will be 12½% of 
the school budget share, and the minimum size for a licensed deficit will be the minimum 
of £10,000 or 3% of a schools budget share; 
 

Page 36



 

 21 

d) A maximum of 40% of the collective balances held by the LA will be used to back the 
arrangement 
 
e) All arrangements will require the approval of the Director of Children’s Services and the 
Chief Finance Officer of the City Council. 
 

 
SECTION 5: INCOME 
 
The basic principle will be that schools should be able to retain income except in certain specified 
circumstances. Where income is derived as a direct result of letting school premises or facilities, 
from the sale of assets or from fees and charges, the income shall always be credited to the 
school budget share and not to any other school fund. However, school fund income may at any 
time be credited to the school’s budget share through the procedure set out in guidelines issued 
by the Director of Children’s Services. 
 
5.1 Income from lettings 
 
Schools will be allowed to retain income from lettings of the school premises which would 
otherwise accrue to the LA, subject to alternative provisions arising from any joint use or PFI 
agreements. Schools are allowed to cross-subsidise lettings for community and voluntary use 
with income from other lettings, provided there is no net cost to the budget share. However, 
schools are required to have regard to directions issued by the LA as to the use of school 
premises, as permitted under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 for various 
categories of schools. 
 
5.2 Income from fees and charges 
 
Schools are allowed to retain income from fees and charges except where a service is provided 
by the LA from centrally retained funds. However, schools are required to have regard to any 
policy statements on charging produced by the LA. 
 
 The LA will provide, and keep under review, a statement of its charging and remission policies. 
Governing bodies are required to do likewise with their own charging policies. The LA charging 
policy is contained within the Finance Manual for schools. 
 
5.3 Income from fund-raising activities 
 
Schools are allowed to retain income from fund-raising activities. 
 
5.4 Income from the sale of assets 
 
Schools are allowed to retain the proceeds of sale of assets except in cases where the asset was 
purchased with non-delegated funds (in which case it will be for the LA to decide whether the 
school should retain the proceeds), or the asset concerned is land or buildings forming part of the 
school premises and is owned by the LA. 
 
5.5 Administrative procedures for the collection of income 
 
The detailed requirements referring to the receipt, safeguarding and banking of income are stated 
in Financial Regulations for schools with delegated budgets. The main issues are: 

 all income to be receipted on approved receipts 

 money, whilst on school premises, or in transit, must be safeguarded in accordance 
with the City Council’s money insurance policy 

 banking must be regular  

 cash income must never be used to make refunds or to pay invoices or staff 

 personal cheques must not be cashed out of income. 

Page 37



 

 22 

 VAT must be accounted for where there is a VAT liability. 
 
5.6 Purposes for which income may be used 
 
Income from sale of assets purchased with delegated funds may only be spent for the purposes 
of the school.  
 
SECTION 6: THE CHARGING OF SCHOOL BUDGET SHARES 
 
6.1 General provision 
 
The LA has a right to protect its financial position from liabilities caused by the action or inaction 
of governing bodies by making a charge on the budget share of a school. The budget share of a 
school will be charged by the LA without the consent of the governing body only in circumstances 
expressly permitted by the scheme, after consultation with schools as to the intention to so 
charge, and schools will be notified when it has been done.  
 
6.1.2 For a school that has determined to operate a separate bank account, charges will be 
actioned by a reduction in the next available monthly advance. 
 
6.1.3 The City Council is required to charge salaries of school-based staff to school budget 
shares at actual cost. 
 
6.1.4 The LA is allowed to de-delegate funding for permitted services without the express 
permission of the governing body of maintained primary and secondary schools, provided this 
has been approved by the appropriate phase (primary/secondary) representatives of the Schools 
Forum. The LA cannot de-delegate funding from SILCs, PRUs or academies but they can buy-
back these services if required and if offered. 
 
 
6.2 Circumstances in which charges may be made 
 
6.2.1 Where premature retirement costs have been incurred without the prior written agreement 
of the Director of Children’s Services to bear such costs (the amount chargeable being only the 
excess over any amount agreed by the Director of Children’s Services); 
 
6.2.2 Other expenditure incurred to secure resignations where the school had not followed LA 
advice; 
 
6.2.3 Awards by courts and industrial tribunals against the City Council, or out of court 
settlements, arising from action or inaction by the governing body contrary to the LA's advice 
 
6.2.4 Expenditure by the LA in carrying out health and safety work or capital expenditure for 
which the LA is liable where funds have been delegated to the governing body for such work, but 
the governing body has failed to carry out the required work; 
 
6.2.5 Expenditure by the LA incurred in making good defects in building work funded by capital 
spending from budget shares, where the premises are owned by the LA or the school has 
voluntary controlled status; 
 
6.2.6 Expenditure incurred by the LA in insuring its own interests in a school where funding has 
been delegated but the school has failed to demonstrate that it has arranged cover at least as 
good as that which would be arranged by the LA; 
 
6.2.7 Recovery of monies due from a school for services provided to the school, where a dispute 
over the monies due has been referred to a disputes procedure set out in a service level 
agreement, and the result is that monies are owed by the school to the LA; 

Page 38



 

 23 

 
6.2.8 Recovery of penalties imposed on the LA by the Board of Inland Revenue, the 
Contributions Agency, HM Customs and Excise, West Yorkshire Pensions Fund, Teachers 
Pensions, the Environment Agency or regulatory authorities as a result of school negligence.  
 
6.2.9 Correction of LA errors in calculating charges or credits to a budget share (e.g. pension 
deductions) 
 
6.2.10  Additional transport costs incurred by the City Council arising due to decisions made by 
the governing body on the length of the school day, or failure to notify the Council of non-pupil 
days. 
 
6.2.11 Legal costs which are incurred by the City Council because the governing body did not 
accept the advice of the Director of Children’s Services (see also section 11). 
 
6.2.12 Costs of necessary health and safety training for staff employed by the LA, where funding 
for training had been delegated but the necessary training not carried out. 
 
6.2.13 Compensation paid to a lender where a school enters into a contract for borrowing beyond 
its legal powers, and the contract is of no effect. 
 
6.2.14 Cost of  work done in respect of teacher pension remittance and records for schools using 
non-LA payroll contractors, the charge to be the minimum needed to meet the cost of the City 
Council’s compliance with its statutory obligations; 
 
6.2.15 Costs incurred by the LA in securing provision specified in a statement of SEN where the 
governing body of a school fails to secure such provision despite the delegation of funds in 
respect of low cost high incidence SEN and/or specific funding for a pupil with high needs; 
 
6.2.16 Costs incurred by the LA due to submission by the school of incorrect data; 
 
6.2.17 Recovery of amounts spent from specific grants on ineligible purposes; 
 
6.2.18 Costs incurred by the LA as a result of the governing body being in breach of the terms of 
a contract; 
 
6.2.19 Costs incurred by the authority or another school as a result of a school withdrawing from 
a cluster arrangement, for example where this has funded staff providing services across the 
cluster.  
 
6.2.20 Interest payable for late payment of a commercial debt under the Late payment of 
Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, where the school is responsible for the delay. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 24 

 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 7: TAXATION 
 
7.1 Value Added Tax 
 
When a Governing Body enters into a contract to spend part of its delegated budget it does so on 
behalf of the City Council. The City Council retains the ownership of any items purchased in this 
way. 
 
Under Section 33 of the VAT Act 1994, the City Council is able to claim refunds of VAT on 
purchases in respect of its non business activities, of which purchases by governing bodies are 
one. Therefore, there is no need for any school to register for VAT in connection with its activities 
involving the use of its delegated budget.  
 
As regards Voluntary Aided Schools, the City Council cannot claim refunds of VAT on items of 
expenditure which are the responsibility of the governors (e.g. external repairs to buildings). 
 
In order to reclaim VAT on purchases schools will have to follow procedures detailed in the 
Finance Manual for schools. Any amounts of VAT reclaimed will be passed back to the school. 
 
 
7.2 Construction Industry Taxation Scheme 
 
Schools are required to abide by procedures issued by the City Council in connection with CITS. 
Procedures can be found in the Finance Manual for schools. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

 25 

 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 8: THE PROVISION OF SERVICES AND FACILITIES BY THE CITY COUNCIL  
 
8.1: Provision of services from centrally retained budgets 
 
It is for the City Council to determine on what basis services from centrally retained funds will be 
provided to schools. This includes all expenditure included within the Section 251 Statement 
outside of the Individual Schools Budget. However, there will be no discrimination in the provision 
of services on the basis of categories of schools except where (a) funding has been delegated to 
some schools only or (b) such discrimination is justified by differences in statutory duties.  
 
This includes access to any funding to cover premature retirement costs and redundancy 
payments which may not ordinarily be thought of as services. 
 
8.2 Provision of services bought back from the City Council using delegated budgets 
 
The term of any arrangement with a school to buy services or facilities from the LA is limited to a 
maximum of three years from the date of the agreement, whichever is the later, and periods not 
exceeding five years for any subsequent agreement relating to the same services. 
 
When a service is provided for which expenditure is not retainable centrally by the LA under the 
regulations made under section 46 of the Act, it will be offered at prices which are intended to 
generate income which is no less than the cost of providing those services.  The total cost of the 
service will be met by the total income, even if schools are charged differentially. 
 
8.2.1 Packaging 
 
Any service that is being provided on a buy-back basis will be offered in a way that does not 
unreasonably restrict schools’ freedom of choice among the services available, and where 
practicable, will include provision on a service by service basis as well as in packages of 
services. 
 
8.3 Service level agreements (SLAs) 
 
Service level agreements will operate on an academic year basis where practical for them to do 
so, although some may have to operate on financial years. However, service level agreements 
will be issued at least one month prior to the date from which they will be effective, and schools 
will have at least a month to consider the terms of agreements. 
 
8.3.1 If services or facilities are provided under a service level agreement – whether free or on a 
buyback basis – the terms of any such agreement will be reviewed at least every three years if 
the agreement lasts longer than that. 
 
8.3.2 Services, if offered at all by the LA, will be available on a basis which is not related to an 
extended agreement, as well as on the basis of such agreements. 
 
Where services are provided on an ad hoc basis they may be charged for at a different rate than 
if provided on the basis of an extended agreement. 
 
Centrally arranged premises and liability insurance are exempt from the requirements of sections 
8.2 and 8.3 as to service supply, as the limitations envisaged may be impracticable for insurance 
purposes. 
 

Page 41



 

 26 

 
 
 
 
 
8.4 Teachers’ Pensions 
 
In order to ensure that the performance of the duty on the City Council to supply Teachers 
Pensions with information under the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 1997, the following 
conditions are imposed on the City Council and governing bodies of all maintained 
schools covered by this Scheme in relation to their budget shares. 
 
The conditions only apply to governing bodies of maintained schools that have not entered into 
an arrangement with the City Council to provide payroll services. 
 
A governing body of any maintained school, whether or not the employer of the teachers at such 
a school, which has entered into any arrangement or agreement with a person other than the City 
Council to provide payroll services, shall ensure that any such arrangement or agreement is 
varied to require that person to supply salary, service and pensions data to the City Council 
which the City Council requires to submit its annual return of salary and service to Teachers' 
Pensions and to produce its audited contributions certificate.  The City Council will advise schools 
each year of the timing, format and specification of the information required. A governing body 
shall also ensure that any such arrangement or agreement is varied to require that Additional 
Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) are passed to the City Council within the time limit specified in 
the AVC scheme. The governing body shall meet any consequential costs from the school’s 
budget share. 
 
A governing body of any maintained school which directly administers its payroll shall supply 
salary, service and pensions data to the City Council which the City Council requires to submit its 
annual return of salary and service to Teachers' Pensions and to produce its audited 
contributions certificate.  The City Council will advise schools each year of the timing, format and 
specification of the information required from each school. A governing body shall also ensure 
that Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) are passed to the City Council within the time limit 
specified in the AVC scheme. The governing body shall meet any consequential costs from the 
school’s budget share. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 27 

 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 9: PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE / PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS (PFI/PPP) 
 
The LA has the power to charge to a school’s budget share any amounts incorporated within a 
PFI/PPP agreement entered into by the governing body of a school with the LA, in relation to a 
PFI/PPP scheme involving the school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

 28 

 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 10: INSURANCE 
 
10.1 Insurance cover 
 
The City Council requires that any school wishing to arrange its own insurance must demonstrate 
that cover relevant to the City Council's insurable interests, under a policy arranged by the 
governing body, is at least as good as the relevant minimum cover arranged by the City Council if 
the City Council makes such arrangements, either paid for from central funds or from 
contributions from schools' delegated budgets. The LA will have regard to the actual risks which 
might reasonably be expected to arise at the school in question in operating such a requirement, 
rather than applying an arbitrary minimum level of cover for all schools.  
 
 
The following are pre-requisites for any school wishing to arrange its own insurance: 

 
1) A valuation of the buildings on a reinstatement basis in accordance with the specification 

determined by the City Council’s Asset Management Service. The cost of the valuation 
will be at the school’s expense. 

2) A complete inventory of school contents with replacement values as referred to in the 
section on control of assets. 

3) Agreement that all policies will be in the joint names of the governing body and Leeds 
City Council. 

4) Agreement that the indemnity limits currently insured by Leeds City Council will be 
matched for Employers’ and Public Liability insurances. 

 
Detailed guidance on the subject of insurance is available to all schools from the City Council’s 
Insurance Service 
(see also 6.2.6) 
 
10.2 Risk Protection Arrangement (RPA)   
 
With effect from 1 April 2020 rather than taking out insurance, a school may join the Secretary of 
State’s risk protection arrangement (RPA) for risks that are covered by the RPA. 
 
Schools may do this individually when any insurance contract of which they are part expires.  
Alternatively all primary and/or secondary maintained schools may join the RPA collectively by 
agreeing through the schools forum to de-delegate funding 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

 29 

SECTION 11: MISCELLANEOUS 
 
11.1 Right of access to information 
 
There is a requirement on governing bodies to supply all financial and other information which 
might reasonably be required to enable the City Council to satisfy itself as to the school's 
management of its delegated budget share, or the use made of any central expenditure by the 
City Council (e.g. earmarked funds) on the school. 
 
11.2 Liability of governors 
 
As the governing body is a corporate body, and because of the terms of s.50(7) of the SSAF Act, 
governors of maintained schools will not incur personal liability in the exercise of their power to 
spend the delegated budget share provided they act in good faith. 
 
Insurance for Governors 
The City Council will indemnify, and will not seek a financial contribution from, Governors in 
relation to claims arising out of any neglect, error or omission by the governors in the course of 
their duties and within the scope of their authority, subject to the following exceptions: 
 

a) Loss or damage directly or indirectly caused by or arising from: 
 (i)  fraud, dishonesty or criminal offence on the part of a governor 
 (ii) the use of a motor vehicle belonging, hired, leased or loaned to a governor. 
 
b) Liability in respect of surcharges made by the auditor. 
 
c) Ten per cent (10%) of the total cost of a libel or slander claim (subject to a maximum      

 contribution by a governor of £500) 
 
d) Liability which is already insured under a policy of insurance. 
 
e) Liability falling on the governor but not the City Council (i.e. there is no vicarious liability) 

 
The indemnity will not apply if a governor admits liability or negotiates or attempts to negotiate 
settlement of a claim without the written authority of the City Council.  
 
This indemnity will also extend to: 
 

 Representation at any Coroner’s inquest or fatal Inquiry in respect of any death. 

 Defending any proceedings in respect of any act or omission or alleged breach of statutory 
regulations (which includes the Health and Safety at Work Act) relating to any event which 
may result in a claim for compensation. 

 
Where there is the need for legal advice and representation to a governing body, ordinarily this 
would be met by the Council’s Legal Services team. Where a conflict of interest arises between 
the Council and the governing body/named members of staff, then Legal Services will only be 
able to act for the Council, in accordance with the rules and guidelines issued by the Law Society 
in respect of the professional conduct of solicitors, as laid down from time to time by the Law 
Society. 
 
11.3 Governors' expenses 
 
The LA may delegate to the governing body of a school yet to receive a delegated budget, funds 
to meet governors' expenses 
 
Under section 50(5) of the Act, only allowances in respect of purposes specified in regulations 
made under section 19 of the Education Act 2002 may be paid to governors from a school's 

Page 45



 

 30 

delegated budget share. The payment of any other allowances is forbidden. Schools are also 
barred from payment of expenses duplicating those paid by the Secretary of State to additional 
governors appointed by him to schools under special measures. 
 
11.4 Responsibility for legal costs 
 
Legal costs incurred by the governing body, although the responsibility of the LA as part of the 
cost of maintaining the school unless they relate to the statutory responsibility of aided school 
governors for buildings, will be charged to the school's budget share unless the governing body 
acts in accordance with the advice of the City Council. 
 
Should a conflict of interest arise between the City Council and the governing body and the 
governing body requires independent legal advice, then they should follow the arrangements set 
out in 2.10 above. 
 
11.5 Health and Safety 
 
The primary responsibility for Health and Safety rests with the LA, as the employer. However, for 
Foundation and Trust schools the governing body replaces the LA as the employer. 
 
A secondary responsibility does rest with the occupier and under section 4 and 36 of the 1974 
Health and Safety Act is also placed on individual staff to ensure they work in ways which are 
without risk to themselves, other staff, pupils and visitors to premises. 
 
The LA has provided a written statement of health and safety policy, but it requires each 
governing body to have considered the issues as they affect their schools and either to have 
accepted the LA’s policy as sufficient or to have prepared and approved a written health and 
safety policy for the school.  
 
The LA’s Statement of Safety Policy and all ensuing guidance has been sent to schools in the 
manual ‘Health & Safety in Education Premises, and is not contained in this scheme. 
 
Under section 39(3) of the School Standards and Framework Act the LA may issue directions to 
the governing body and head teacher of a community, community special or voluntary controlled 
school on health and safety matters; these directions are enforceable, so far as governing bodies 
are concerned, via section 497 of the Education Act 1996 if not complied with.  
 
11.6 Right of attendance for the Chief Finance Officer 
 
Governing bodies are required to permit the Chief Finance Officer of the City Council (or his/her 
representative) to attend meetings of the governing body at which any agenda items are relevant 
to the exercise of her or his responsibilities. 
 
11.7 Special Educational Needs 
 
Schools are required to use their best endeavours in spending the budget share, to secure the 
special educational needs of their pupils. As this is anyway a statutory requirement, it would be 
possible for the LA to suspend delegation where a situation is serious enough to warrant it. This 
would not normally relate to an individual pupil. 
 
11.8 Whistleblowing 
 
The City Council has a Whistleblowing Policy that details the procedure to be followed by 
persons working at a school or school governors who wish to complain about financial 
management or financial propriety at the school, and how such complaints will be dealt with. The 
policy is contained within the Finance Manual for schools.  
 

Page 46



 

 31 

11.9 Child Protection 
 
Schools are required to release staff to attend child protection case conferences and other 
related events, and the funding is delegated to schools within the school’s budget share. 
 
 
11.10 Redundancy and early retirement costs 
 
The 2002 Education Act sets out how premature retirement and redundancy costs should 
normally be funded. The City Council follows this procedure. 
 
The default position is that for staff funded from a school’s budget, premature retirement costs 
must be charged to the Schools Budget, unless the local authority agrees otherwise, and 
redundancy costs should be charged to a local authority’s budget, unless there is a good reason 
that they should be met from the Schools’ Budget. Where an employee is over the age of 55, 
termination of employment situations can involve both a redundancy payment and a premature 
retirement payment.  
 
For staff employed under the community facilities power, the default position is that any costs 
must be met by the governing body, and can be funded from the school’s delegated budget if the 
governing body is satisfied that this will not interfere to a significant extent with the performance 
of any duties imposed on them by the Education Acts, including the requirement to conduct the 
school with a view to promoting high standards of educational achievement.  
 
Further guidance is provided in Appendix A.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

 32 

SECTION 12: RESPONSIBILITY FOR REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 

 
12.1 Categories of work 
 
Governing bodies must expect to finance from their budget all categories of work treated as 
revenue expenditure. 
  
Governing bodies may finance from their budget categories of work treated as capital 
expenditure. However, voluntary aided schools may not seek to recover VAT where such 
expenditure is a governing body responsibility. 
 
12.2 Delegation 
 
The City Council will delegate all revenue funding for repairs and maintenance to schools.  Only 
capital expenditure is to be retained, under the definition of capital used by the City Council for 
financial accounting purposes in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
accounting. 
 
For voluntary aided schools, the liability of the City Council for repairs and maintenance is the 
same as for other maintained schools, and no separate list of responsibilities is necessary for 
such schools. However, eligibility for capital grant from the Secretary of state for capital works at 
voluntary aided schools depends on the de minimis limit applied by DfES to categorise such 
work, not the de minimis used by the City Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

 33 

SECTION 13: COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 
13.1 Introduction 
 
Schools which choose to exercise the power conferred by section 27 (1) of the Education Act 
2002 to provide community facilities will be subject to a range of controls. First, regulations made 
under section 28 (2) can specify activities which may not be undertaken at all under the main 
enabling power. Secondly, the school is obliged to consult the authority and have regard to 
advice from the City Council. Thirdly, the Secretary of State issues guidance to governing bodies 
about a range of issues connected with exercise of the power and a school must have regard to 
that. 
 
However, under section 28(1), the main limitations and restrictions on the power will be those 
contained in the maintaining authority’s scheme for financing schools made under section 48 of 
the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Paragraph 2 of Schedule 3 to the Education Act 
2002 extends the coverage of schemes to the powers of governing bodies to provide community 
facilities. 
 
Schools are therefore subject to prohibitions, restrictions and limitations in the scheme for 
financing schools.  
 
This section of the scheme does not extend to joint-use agreements; transfer of control 
agreements, or agreements between the City Council and schools to secure the provision of 
adult and community learning 
 
The City Council has the right to require a school to make a charge against its school budget 
share to meet an accumulated deficit. This right will not be applied automatically where an activity 
shows an accumulated deficit but would be applied following consideration of individual 
circumstances. This right will not be exercised where the school can provide a working business 
plan showing that the deficit will be cleared within a two year period. 
 
Mismanagement of community facilities funds may be grounds for suspension of the right to a 
delegated budget. 
 
13.2 Consultation with the City Council – financial aspects 
 
Section 28(4) of the Education Act 2002 requires that before exercising the community facilities 
power, governing bodies must consult the City Council, and have regard to the advice given.  
 
Before any decision is taken by a governing body to exercise its power to provide community 
facilities the governing body must notify the Director of Children’s Services in writing of its 
intention to do so and seeking his/her advice.   
 
The notification should include such details as: 

• proposed activities to take place 
• planned income and expenditure  
• use of school buildings (within and outside the normal school day) 
• insurance arrangements 
• health and safety 
• assessment of any risk (financial or otherwise) associated with the proposal  
• involvement of third parties 
• proposed banking arrangements  
 

as well as specific information as to how the school will ensure compliance with the requirements 
of this section. In particular the governing body should indicate the benefits for the school and 
community of exercising this power. 
 

Page 49



 

 34 

The City Council will respond within six weeks of receiving formal notification so this time should 
be built into the plan for implementing the proposal. Schools are required to notify the Director of 
Children’s Services of their decision following his/her advice before formally committing itself to 
exercising its power. 
 
If a governing body fails to inform the Director of Children’s Services of its intention to use its 
community facilities power, or chooses not to comply with his/her advice to the extent that, in the 
view of the City Council, is seriously prejudicial to the interests of the school or Council, that may 
constitute grounds for suspension of the right to a delegated budget. 
 
13.3 Funding agreements – authority powers 
 
The provision of community facilities in many schools may be dependent on the conclusion of a 
funding agreement with a third party which will either be supplying funding or supplying funding 
and taking part on the provision. A very wide range of bodies and organisations are potentially 
involved.  
 
If the provision of community facilities is dependent upon the conclusion of a funding agreement 
with a third party, details of any such proposed agreement should be submitted to the Director of 
Children’s Services for his/her comments as part of its proposal. The LA may not impose a right 
of veto over a school entering into such agreements directly or by requiring any agreement to be 
countersigned. Schools are advised to seek legal advice before entering into any such 
agreement.  
 
If agreement has been or is to be concluded against the wishes of the City Council, or has been 
concluded without informing the Director of Children’s Services, which in the view of the City 
Council is seriously prejudicial to the interests of the school or the Council, that may constitute 
grounds for suspension of the right to a delegated budget. 
 
13.4 Other prohibitions, restrictions and limitations 
 
If the City Council has good reason to believe that a proposed project carries significant financial 
risks it may require that the governing body make arrangements to protect the financial interests 
of the City Council by either carrying out the activity concerned through the vehicle of a limited 
company formed for the purpose, or by obtaining indemnity insurance for risks associated with 
the project in question, as specified by the LA. 
 
The City Council does not intend to impose any further specific restrictions on schools with 
regard to this provision but would expect governing bodies to be aware of the need to safeguard 
the financial position of the City Council or school and to protect pupil welfare or education as 
well as the sensitivities and needs of the community in exercising this power.  
 
13.5 Supply of financial information 
 
Schools which exercise the community facilities power will be required to provide the City Council 
every six months with a summary statement, showing the income and expenditure for the school 
arising from the facilities in question for the previous six months and on an estimated basis, for 
the next six months. Guidance on the provision of this information will be provided by the City 
Council. 
 
The Director of Children’s Services, on giving notice to a school that it believes there to be cause 
for concern as to the school’s management of the financial consequences of the exercise of the 
community facilities power, reserves the right to require such financial statements to be supplied 
more regularly and, if the City Council sees fit, to require the submission of a recovery plan for 
the activity in question. 
 
 

Page 50



 

 35 

13.6 Audit 
 
Schools are required to grant access by the City Council’s internal and external auditors to the 
school’s records connected with exercise of the community facilities power, in order to facilitate 
internal and external audit of relevant income and expenditure.  
 
Any funding agreements with other persons pursuant to the exercise of the community facilities 
power, must contain adequate provision for access by the City Council or its representatives to 
the records and other property of those persons held on the school premises, or held elsewhere 
insofar as they relate to the activity in question, in order for the Council to satisfy itself as to the 
propriety of expenditure on the facilities in question. 
 
13.7 Treatment of income and surpluses 
 
All net income derived from community facilities except where otherwise agreed with a funding 
provider, whether that be the City Council or some other person, may be retained by the school. 
 
The school may carry such retained net income over from one financial year to the next as a 
separate community facilities surplus or, subject to the agreement of the City Council at the end 
of each financial year, transfer all or part of it to the budget share balance. 
 
If the school is a community or community special school, and the City Council ceases to 
maintain the school, any accumulated retained income obtained from exercise of the community 
facilities power reverts to the City Council unless otherwise agreed with a funding provider. 
 
13.8 Treatment of deficits 
 
If the activity results in a deficit this must be charged against any accumulated community 
facilities surplus previously generated by the school. 
 
Where a deficit cannot be charged against any accumulated surplus the City Council has the 
right to require a school to make a charge against its school budget share, or other funding that 
may be applied to support community facilities, to meet the accumulated deficit. This right will not 
be applied automatically where an activity shows an accumulated deficit but would be applied 
following consideration of individual circumstances. 
 
This right will not be exercised where the school can provide a working business plan showing 
that the deficit will be cleared within a two year period 
 
If the City Council incurs any third party liabilities as a result of a governing body using its 
community facilities power it reserves the right to charge the cost against any accumulated 
community facilities surplus maintained by the school. 
 
13.9 Health and safety matters 
 
The health and safety provisions as set out in para 11.5 of the Leeds Scheme for Financing 
Schools apply equally in regard to the community facilities power. 
 
The governing body will be responsible for meeting the costs of securing Disclosure and Barring 
Service clearance for all adults involved in community activities. 
 
13.10 Insurance 
 
It is the responsibility of the governing body to make adequate arrangements for insurance 
against risks arising from the exercise of the community facilities power.  
 

Page 51



 

 36 

Any school proposing to provide community facilities should, as an integral part of its plans, 
undertake an assessment of the insurance implications and costs, seeking professional advice if 
necessary. The school must seek the advice of the City Council’s Insurance Officer before 
finalising any insurance arrangement for community facilities. 
 
The City Council reserves the right to undertake its own assessment of the insurance 
arrangements made by a school in respect of community facilities, and, if it judges those 
arrangements to be inadequate, make arrangements itself and charge the resultant cost to the 
school. 
 
13.11 Taxation 
 
Schools should seek advice from the City Council on any issues relating to the possible 
imposition of Value Added Tax on expenditure in connection with community facilities including 
the use of the City Council VAT reclaim facility. 
 
If any member of staff employed by the school or City Council in connection with community 
facilities at the school is paid from funds held in a school’s own bank account, the school is likely 
to be held liable for payment of income tax and National Insurance, in line with HM Revenue and 
Customs rules. 
 
Schools must follow LA advice in relation to the Construction Industry Scheme where this is 
relevant to the exercise of the community facilities power. 
 
13.12 Banking 
 
Schools must maintain separate accounts from the school budget share for income and 
expenditure in connection with the community facilities power. 
 
If a school wishes to maintain a separate bank account for these funds then the requirements set 
out in para 3.5 of the Leeds Scheme for Financing Schools will apply, save that, where a bank 
account is set up specifically for community facilities, the account mandate should not imply that 
the City Council is the owner of the funds in the account except insofar as those funds have been 
provided by the City Council itself.  
 
Schools are reminded that they may not borrow money without the written consent of the 
Secretary of State. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

 37 

Appendix A: Responsibility for redundancy and early retirement costs 
 

This guidance note summarises the position relating to the charging of voluntary early 
retirement and redundancy costs. It sets out what is specified in legislation and provides 
some examples of when it might be appropriate to charge an individual school’s budget, the 
central Schools Budget or the local authority’s non-schools budget.  

Section 37 of the 2002 Education Act says:  

(4) costs incurred by the local education authority in respect of any premature 
retirement of a member of the staff of a maintained school shall be met from 
the school's budget share for one or more financial years except in so far as 
the authority agree with the governing body in writing (whether before or after 
the retirement occurs) that they shall not be so met.  

(5) costs incurred by the local education authority in respect of the dismissal, 
or for the purpose of securing the resignation, of any member of the staff of a 
maintained school shall not be met from the school's budget share for any 
financial year except in so far as the authority have good reason for deducting 
those costs, or any part of those costs, from that share.  

(6) The fact that the authority have a policy precluding dismissal of their 
employees by reason of redundancy is not to be regarded as a good reason 
for the purposes of subsection (5); and in this subsection the reference to 
dismissal by reason of redundancy shall be read in accordance with section 
139 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (c. 18).  

The default position, therefore, is that premature retirement costs must be charged to the 
school’s delegated budget, while redundancy costs must be charged to the local authority’s 
budget. In the former case, the local authority has to agree otherwise for costs to be centrally 
funded, while in the latter case, there has to be a good reason for it not to be centrally 
funded, and that cannot include having a no redundancy policy. Ultimately, it would be for the 
courts to decide what was a good reason, but the examples set out below indicate the 
situations in which exceptions to the default position might be taken 
 
Charge of dismissal/resignation costs to delegated school budget:  

• If a school has decided to offer more generous terms than the authority’s policy, then 
it would be reasonable to charge the excess to the school; 

• If a school is otherwise acting outside the local authority’s policy  

• Where the school is making staffing reductions which the local authority does not 
believe are necessary to either set a balanced budget or meet the conditions of a 
licensed deficit  

• Where staffing reductions arise from a deficit caused by factors within the school’s 
control  

• Where the school has excess surplus balances and no agreed plan to use these  

• Where a school has refused to engage with the local authority’s redeployment policy. 

 
Charge of premature retirement costs to local authority non-schools budget:  

• Where a school has a long-term reduction in pupil numbers and charging such costs to 
their budget would impact on standards  

Page 53



 

 38 

• Where a school is closing, does not have sufficient balances to cover the costs and 
where the central Schools Budget does not have capacity to absorb the deficit  

• Where charging such costs to the school’s budget would prevent the school from 
complying with a requirement to recover a licensed deficit within the agreed timescale  

• Where a school is in special measures, does not have excess balances and 
employment of the relevant staff is being/has been terminated as a result of local 
authority or government intervention to improve standards  

 
Costs of early retirements or redundancies may only be charged to the central part of the 
Schools Budget where the expenditure is to be incurred as a result of decisions made before 
1st April 2013. Costs may not exceed the amount budgeted in the previous financial year.  

It is important that the local authority discusses its policy with its Schools Forum. Although 
each case should be considered on its merits, this should be within an agreed framework. It 
may be reasonable to share costs in some cases, and some authorities operate a panel to 
adjudicate on applications. 
 
A de-delegated contingency could be provided, if Schools Forum agree, to support individual 
schools where “a governing body has incurred expenditure which it would be unreasonable 
to expect them to meet from the school’s budget share”.  

For staff employed under the community facilities power, the default position is that any costs 
must be met by the governing body, and can be funded from the school’s delegated budget if 
the governing body is satisfied that this will not interfere to a significant extent with the 
performance of any duties imposed on them by the Education Acts, including the 
requirement to conduct the school with a view to promoting high standards of educational 
achievement. Section 37 now states:  

(7) Where a local education authority incur costs:  

(a) In respect of any premature retirement of any member of the staff of a 
maintained school who is employed for community purposes, or  

(b) In respect of the dismissal, or for the purpose of securing the resignation, of 
any member of the staff of a maintained school who is employed for those 
purposes, they shall recover those costs from the governing body except in so 
far as the authority agree with the governing body in writing (whether before or 
after the retirement, dismissal or resignation occurs) that they shall not be so 
recoverable.  

(7A) Any amount payable by virtue of subsection (7) by the governing body of 
a maintained school in England to the local authority may be met by the 
governing body out of the school’s budget share for any funding period if and 
to the extent that the condition in subsection 7(B) is met.  

(7B) The condition is that the governing body are satisfied that meeting the 
amount out of the school’s budget share will not to a significant extent interfere 
with the performance of any duty imposed on them by section 21(2) or by any 
other provision of the Education Acts.  

(8) Where a person is employed partly for community purposes and partly for other 
purposes, any payment or costs in respect of that person is to be apportioned between the 
two purposes; and the preceding provisions of this section shall apply separately to each part 
of the payment or costs. 

Page 54



 

Report of the Director of Children and Families Services                            

Report to the Leeds Schools Forum 

Subject: Dedicated Schools Grant 2020/21 – Budget Monitoring Month 10  

Report authors: Louise Hornsey 
(Senior Head of Finance – People) 

Shirley Maidens   
Senior Financial Manager 
 

Contact number: 0113 3788689 
 
 
 
Contact number: 0113 3788532 

1 Summary of main issues 
 
 

1.1 This report is to inform members of Schools Forum of the latest 2020/21 budget 
monitoring position on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) as at the end of 
January 2021. 
 

1.2 This report projects an in year overspend of £375k. This is made up of an 
overspend on the High Needs Block (HNB) which is overspent largely as a result 
of increased expenditure on SEN top-ups and outside placements. This is largely 
offset by an underspend on the Early Years Block with smaller underspends on 
the Schools Block and Central Schools Services Block.  

 
1.3 As a result of the COVID 19 pandemic, it has been difficult to accurately calculate 

some of the projections, particularly on early years.  This is because many of the 
settings have been fully or partially closed for a number of months. This has 
caused particular problems around the January early years census which will be 
the basis of the grant received for the spring term. 

 
1.4 Schools Forum agreed to a transfer of £2.65m from the schools block to the high 

needs block in 2020/21 and a further £350k was transferred from the central 
school services block to the high needs block.   

 
1.5 Overall, the variation on general DSG is analysed as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



 
Projected 

Grant 
Projected 

Expenditure 
Variance 

 
£000 £000 £000     

Schools Block 306,600 305,859 (741) 

Early Years Block 59,830 59,263 (567) 

High Needs Block 79,951 81,711 1,760 

Central Schools Services Block 4,867 4,790 (77) 

Total In Year Underspend 451,248 451,577 375     

Deficit b/fwd from 2019/20 
  

3,955     

Projected deficit at 31/3/21 
  

4,330 

 

2 Schools Block 
  

2.1 The majority of the Schools Block is allocated to primary and secondary schools 
(ISB), with smaller amounts for de-delegated services and the growth fund.  
These budgets are subject to fluctuations in expenditure throughout the year. 
The projected costs and variances are summarised below: 
  

Latest 
Estimate 

Projection Variance 

 
£000 £000 £000     

DSG Income Due (314,877) (306,600) 8,277 

Individual Schools Budget 307,309 298,786 (8,523) 

Growth Fund 3,000 2,505 (495)  
(4,568) (5,309) (741)     

De-delegated budgets 4,568 4,095 (473) 

 
(note: a bracketed figure in the variance column is an underspend and a positive 
figure an overspend)  

 

2.2 When a school becomes an academy, funding payments are made directly by 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA).  For Leeds City Council this 
means that there is a reduction in grant income which is largely matched by 
reduced expenditure, though overall there is an underspend as a result of 
recoupment adjustments on NNDR and growth funding in respect of schools 
which have converted to academies during 2020/21. 
 

2.3 Overall, de-delegated services budgets are currently projected to be underspent 
by £405k.  There are projected overspends of £300k due to increased maternity 
pay and £37k on SIMS licences. However this is offset by a projected 
underspend on contingency of £499k as there have been fewer than usual 
schools in financial difficulty bids approved and an expected reduction in 
capitalised pension payments.  In addition, there is additional income of £286k 
due to the way de-delegated budgets are dealt with when a school becomes an 
academy.  If this conversion happens after 1st September, the authority retains 

Page 56



the de-delegated income for the rest of the financial year, though the academy 
can still access the de-delegated services.   

 
2.4 As previously agreed by Schools Forum, the 2019/20 underspend of £596k on 

de-delegated services has now been paid out to schools pro-rata to the amount 
of de-delegated funding received from each school. 

 

2.5 The Growth Fund was initially set at £3,000k.  The current projections are that 
growth fund expenditure will be £2,505k which will result in an underspend of 
£495k.  As detailed in the School Funding Arrangements 2021/22 report in 
January, this underspend has been earmarked to support growth fund costs in 
2021/22. 

 
 

3 Early Years Block 
 

3.1 The projected costs and variances within the Early Years block are summarised 
below: 
  

Latest 
Estimate 

Projection Variance 

 
£000 £000 £000     

DSG Income Due (64,216) (59,830) 4,386 

FEEE 3 & 4 Year Olds 50,897 45,773 (5,124) 

FEEE 3 & 4 Year Olds Exceptional 
Payments 

0 3,200 3,200 

FEEE 2 Year Olds 10,147 7,402 (2,745) 

SEN Inclusion Fund 545 446 (99) 

Early Years Pupil Premium 580 444 (136) 

Disability Access Fund 194 148 (46) 

Early Years Centrally Retained 1,853 1,850 (3)  
0 (567) (567) 

 
(note: a bracketed figure in the variance column is an underspend and a positive 
figure an overspend) 

3.2 Early Years funding is paid to the local authority based on January 2020 and 
January 2021 census. The funding is paid out to providers based on termly 
headcounts of the children attending settings. As a result, there is a difference 
between the funding received by the LA and that paid out to providers.  The 
hourly rate received was increased by 8p per hour and that full increase was 
passed onto providers.  
 

3.3 For 2020/21, there is a great deal of uncertainty around the projections as a result 
of the COVID 19 pandemic.  Of particular concern is the January 2021 early 
years census which took place during a national lockdown.  The results of this 
census are not yet known, though it is likely there will be a significant reduction 
which will result in lower grant for the spring term and the summer term in the 
2021/22 financial year. 

 
3.4 In addition, in order to maintain childcare provision availability, DfE instructions 

were to continue to pay providers even though the childcare may not have been 

Page 57



provided.  For the summer term 2020 this meant that all providers received 
income based on their estimates regardless of whether they had children 
attending. Following the updated DfE guidance, for the autumn term 2020, 
providers in Leeds were funded on either the actual children attending or 95% of 
the value of the autumn 2019 term, whichever was the greater. 

 
3.5 For 2020/21 only, the grant for the period April to December 2020 will be based 

on the January 2020 census data.  As the payments for these terms are largely 
complete, we have some certainty on the underspend for this period. Due to the 
uncertainty around the funding and expenditure for the spring term as detailed 
above, at this stage it is assumed that the grant will match the expenditure for 
this term.  Although this is unlikely to be the case, it is felt that the rapidly 
changing situation means that a meaningful projection is not possible. 

 
3.6 As reported to Schools Forum in February 2020, the implementation of the 

“golden ticket” approach to increase the uptake of 2 year old places has been 
significantly affected by the pandemic which is expected to result in reduced 
expenditure and income. The net effect on the 2 year olds budget is a projected 
underspend of £205k. 

 
3.7 For 3 and 4 years olds, the gross underspend is £3,474k.  This is partly due to 

the underlying difference between funded hours and claimed hours, but also as 
a result of the impact of the pandemic.  However, in recognition of the funding 
difficulties faced by the early years sector, it is proposed to use £3,200k to make 
exceptional payments to settings.  It is also proposed that should there be a 
further underspend as a result of the spring term activity, a further payment is 
made once the spring term funding is confirmed by the ESFA, which is usually in 
July. 

 
3.8 The SEND Inclusion Fund is projected to be £99k underspent.  However activity 

on this budget has also been significantly affected as a result of the pandemic.  
Although underspends on the SEND Inclusion Fund and the Disability Access 
Fund are part of the early years block, these should be viewed in conjunction 
with the Early Years Funding For Inclusion which sits in the high needs block.  
For 2020/21, this is projected to be £350k overspent. 
 

3.9 There are further underspends projected on the Disability Access Fund and Early 
Years Pupil Premium.  In addition, it is expected there will be a small underspend 
on the Early Years Contingency Fund, as the majority of this has been used to 
provide PPE to early years providers.  

 

3.10 As part of the 2019/20 outturn it was reported that the Early Years grant for 
2019/20 was estimated as the statutory deadlines for finalising the accounts were 
earlier than the final grant notification. The final grant received was only £2k 
different than was included in the 2019/20 accounts which is a negligible impact 
on 2020/21.   
 
 

4 High Needs Block 
 

4.1 The projected costs and variances within the High Needs Block are summarised 
in the table below: 

 

Page 58



 
Latest 

Estimate 
Projection Variance 

 
£000 £000 £000     

DSG Income Due (79,831) (79,951) (120) 

Funding Passported to Institutions 
   

 - SILC and Resource Provision Places 14,034 14,192 158 

 - Out of Area and residential placements 8,954 10,871 1,917 

 - Alternative Provision (including AIP's) 5,056 5,078 22 

 - SEN Top-ups to Institutions 41,428 43,665 2,237 

 - Mainstream additional places (£6k blocks) 751 840 89 

 - Increase in Special School places 2,106 0 (2,106) 

 - Education provision for mental health beds 100 100 0 

Commissioned Services 
   

 - Hospital & Home Tuition 1,724 1,724 0 

 - PD & Medical Service 97 97 0 

Children's Services  
   

 - Autism support (STARS) 450 454 4 

 - Children missing out on education 446 432 (14) 

 - Management of high needs services 284 234 (50) 

 - SEN adaptations 141 161 20 

 - SEN Inclusion Team 1,287 1,187 (100) 

 - Sensory Service 2,415 2,118 (297) 

Other items 
   

 - Prudential borrowing for SEMH provision 558 558 0  
0 1,760 1,760 

 
 (note: a bracketed figure in the variance column is an underspend and a positive 
figure an overspend) 
 

4.2 As detailed in the table above, the projected overspend on the High Needs Block 
is £1,760k.  This is following the transfers from the schools block and the central 
school services block totalling £3m. 

 

4.3 Previous reporting identified a significant rise in the requests for new 
assessments (80% rise in new statutory assessments in 2018/19 compared to 
2014/15). The LA is currently responsible for 4,672 EHC plans.  During this 
pandemic period we are continuing to deliver our statutory roles with some 
adjustments to service. There have been fluctuations in the rate of requests 
related to the general closure of schools. Whilst requests have reduced slightly 
during lockdown periods they have then returned and increased on each re-
opening. We are therefore now anticipating an even greater number of requests 
than previously projected. 

 
4.4 DFE national data shows that at the present time the capacity of LA SEND teams 

across the country remains stretched, with case work high, and expected to rise, 
both in terms of requests for new assessments and re-assessment of need.  This 
is due to the fact that many children are returning with even greater difficulties 
and gaps in learning or presenting with significant social, emotional and mental 
health needs requiring support. As restrictions continue and bubbles break down 
in schools, children and young people will lose even more education potentially 

Page 59



causing ongoing difficulties.  It is too early to give clear projections of the impact 
of COVID on the rise in requests for new assessment; however, our previous 
estimates of requests being doubled by 2025 to over 7,000 children may now be 
an underestimation despite work being undertaken to support at an earlier 
intervention level.  

 
4.5 National statistics indicate that around 50% of learners with an EHCP then move 

into specialist provision.  At the present time we are working to develop specialist 
resourced bases in mainstream schools for specific areas of identified need 
alongside the creation of two new generic special schools.  In addition we have 
also increased the capacity in our existing SILCs across the city to meet this 
demand.  It must also be noted that even though we have a planned programme 
of developing additional provision across the city there will still remain the need 
to commission out of authority places for those learners with highly complex and 
individual needs that require a bespoke package.   

 

4.6 SEN top-ups to institutions continues to be the largest area of overspend.  The 
projected overspend for 2020/21 is now £2,237k and the largest variances within 
this are as follows:- 

 
- A continued increase in high need pupils at mainstream schools and 

academies has resulted in a projected over spend of £1,747k.  This is also 
an increase of £2,307k compared to 2019/20.  

- There is an increase in external post 18 placements which is expected to 
result in an overspend of £765k. 

- A projected underspend of approximately £205k on top up funding at SILCs 
and resourced provision units is expected.  Although this is an underspend 
compared to the budget, it is an increase in expenditure of £400k since the 
last budget monitoring report and is a result of an increase in pupils placed 
since September. 

 
4.7 Another impact of the increase in SEN top-ups to mainstream schools is that the 

budget for the additional £6k blocks paid to schools who have a higher number 
of SEN pupils than their notional SEN budget covers, is expected to be £89k 
overspent due to an increased number of SEN pupils within schools meeting the 
criteria for additional £6k blocks. 
 

4.8 The Out of Area Placements and External Residential Placements budget is 
currently expected to be £1,917k overspent.  As detailed above, the number of 
special school places required has outstripped the availability of places in Leeds.  
This has resulted in an increase in the number of high cost placements outside 
the city.  There is still a risk that this overspend could increase further. 

 
4.9 There is expected to be a combined underspend in the services provided by 

Children and Families of £437k.  This is a combination of vacant posts and delays 
in recruitment. 

 
4.10 At the start of the year, it was expected that there would be a need for an extra 

212 specialist placements from September 2020, though at that time it was not 
known where those placements would be.  At this stage in the year, it is assumed 
that all of these pupils are in mainstream schools, special schools or outside 
placements and so no expenditure is expected on this heading.  This partly 

Page 60



offsets a number of the overspends above as the cost of these placements are 
now reflected in current projections. 

 
4.11 When the budget is set, there are a number of issues that are not confirmed on 

the grant allocation until after the year has started.  As estimate is made of the 
impact of these issues, but the actual allocation is slightly different.  For 2020/21, 
the grant allocation is £120k more than budgeted. 

 
 

5 Central School Services Block 
 

5.1 This block provides funding for LAs to carry out central functions on behalf of 
pupils in state-funded maintained schools and academies in England. CSSB is 
split into funding for historic commitments and funding for ongoing 
responsibilities. 
 

5.2 The projected costs on this block are: 

  
Latest 

Estimate 
Projection Variance 

 
£000 £000 £000     

DSG Income Due (4,867) (4,867) 0 

Historic Commitments 646 645 (1) 

Ongoing Responsibilities 4,071 3,995 (76) 

Severance / Pension costs 150 150 0  
0 (77) (77) 

 
 (note: a bracketed figure in the variance column is an underspend and a positive 
figure an overspend) 
 

5.3 This underspend is due to savings in the Admissions Service as a result of 
vacancies and delayed recruitment. 

  

6 2020/21 Reserves 
 

6.1 The table below shows the expected position as at 31st March 2021 as a result 
of all the variances detailed above. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 
General De-

delegated 
Total 

 
£000 £000 £000     

Balance b/fwd from 2019/20 3,955 (722) 3,233     

Use of reserves 0 596 596     

2020/21 Variances  
   

 - Schools Block (741) (473) (1,214) 

 - Early Years Block (567) 
 

(567) 

 - High Needs Block 1,760 
 

1,760 

 - Central Schools Services Block (77) 
 

(77)     

Balance c/fwd to 2021/22 4,330 (599) 3,731 

 
6.2 The conditions of grant for the Dedicated Schools Grant requires that any local 

authority with an overall deficit on its DSG account at the end of 2019/2020 
financial year must be able to present a plan to the DfE for managing their future 
DSG spend.  An initial report was brought to Schools Forum in November and 
an update will be brought to a future meeting. 
 

 
7 Recommendations 

 
7.1 Schools Forum is requested to note the projected overspend on General DSG of 

£375k which will be added to the deficit on General DSG brought forward from 
2019/20. This will make the current projected cumulative deficit £4.3m, with 
projected de-delegated surplus balances standing at £599k. 
 

 

 
 

Page 62



1 
 

Report of the Director of Children and Families                                            

Report to the Leeds Schools Forum 

Date: 25th February 2021 

Subject: High Needs Budget 2021-22 

Report Author: Louise Hornsey Contact telephone number:  0113 3788689 

 
 
Summary of main issues 
 

1 The budget for the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant is approved in 
February each year at the Full Council meeting. This report provides details of the 2021/22 
High Needs budget submitted for approval to the Full Council meeting held on 24th 
February 2021. 

2 The High Needs budget for 2021/22 proposes £91.1m of funding and £92.3m of spend, 
resulting in a £1.2m deficit for the year. This is due to a cap on funding increases 
combined with increases in demand which exceed the allocated funding. 
 

Recommendations 
 

3 Schools Forum is asked to note the High Needs budget for 2021/22 and the proposals for 
continued monitoring and identification of options to improve this position moving forward. 

 

1 Background information 

1.1 The High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools grant provides funding for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). This includes places and top-up funding in 
special schools, resourced provision in mainstream schools and alternative provision; top-
up funding for early years, primary, secondary, post-16 and out of authority provision; 
central SEND support and hospital & home education. 

1.2 In line with the national picture, Leeds has experienced an increase in SEN demand and 
complexity in recent years, with this trend expected to continue. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

1.3 Leeds has historically been underfunded in comparison to some other local authorities, 
and although the National Funding Formula is moving towards funding local authorities 
based on need, the funding increases are currently capped during the transitional period. 
Between 2018/19 and 2021/22 this has resulted in Leeds receiving £20.8m less for High 
Needs than would have been due under the full National Funding Formula. 
 

2 Main issues 

2.1 In line with the national picture, Leeds has experienced an increase in SEND demand and 
complexity in recent years, with this trend expected to continue. In recognition of this 
trend, the national High Needs allocation has increased by approximately £840m for 
2021/22.  This increase includes an amount in respect of the teachers’ pay and pension 
costs which were paid as a separate grant in 2020/21.  

2.2 The High Needs grant allocation for 2021/22 was issued by the Education, Skills and 
Funding Agency (ESFA) in December 2020, though adjustments to this figure are 
expected up until July 2021. For Leeds the current allocation is an increase of £12m for 
2021/22, though approximately £1.34m of this increase is in relation to the teachers’ pay 
and pension grants which will no longer be paid as a separate grant. 

2.3 Although funding has increased for Leeds, there is currently a cap on gains which means 
that the Leeds allocation for 2021/22 will be £3.9m less than the full National Funding 
Formula. 

2.4 Despite the £12m increase in funding for 2021/22, the anticipated increase in special 
school places and pupils eligible for additional top-up funding means that there is expected 
to be on going funding pressures for the High Needs Block and there is a risk that costs 
exceed the budgeted assumptions as a result of the increasing demand. 

2.5 A key issue is that local authorities have a statutory duty to meet the special educational 
needs of children which are identified through an education, health and care plan (EHCP), 
and these needs are increasing in the city. Leeds operates a funding system (Funding for 
Inclusion, FFI) which provides additional funding for high level needs without the need for 
a statutory EHCP. This reduces the numbers and costs of undertaking and maintaining 
EHCPs compared to statistical neighbours and supports inclusion within mainstream 
schools. Leeds still has statistically lower numbers of EHCPs than comparators, however 
the city has seen increases in the numbers and complexity of needs of pupils receiving FFI 
funding and the number of EHCP assessments has risen by over 80% since 2014/15. It is 
estimated that if the current high level of demand for support through EHCPs is sustained, 
the number of children supported through these plans is likely to double by 2025 to over 
7,000 children. 

2.6 A medium term action plan to address the pressures on the High Needs budget is being 
developed and details of this will be brought to a future Schools Forum meeting. In 
addition, the council is currently preparing a response to a recently launched DfE 
consultation on High Needs funding. The DfE is inviting local authorities in England, 
schools and colleges, other interested organisations and individuals to respond to specific 
proposals for a small number of changes to the national funding formula that they will use 

Page 64



3 
 

to allocate high needs funding to local authorities in 2022/23. They are also seeking views 
on some of the longer term changes to the formula that could be considered in future. 

2.7 The DfE consultation is open until 24th March 2021 and the full consultation document can 
be found at the bottom of the following web page (under the ‘Related’ heading): 
https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/high-needs-nff-proposed-changes/ 

2.8 As part of addressing the High Needs pressures in 2021/22, Schools Forum has agreed to 
transfer £2.89m from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block, following consultation 
with schools. However some pressures still remain and an overspend against available 
funding of £1.18m is forecast for 2021/22. The position on the High Needs Block will 
therefore be closely monitored during the year. 

2.9 The proposed budget for 2021/22 taking into account the known and estimated changes is 
as follows: 

  2020/21 2021/22 Variance 

  £000 £000 £000 

     

High Needs Block DSG Income    

     

 High Needs Block baseline 85,741 97,872 12,131 

 Places funded directly by the ESFA (8,910) (9,656) (746) 

 Transferred from Schools Block 2,650 2,887 237 

 Transferred from CSSB 350  (350) 

     

Total High Needs Grant 79,831 91,103 11,272 

     

High Needs Block Expenditure    

     

 Funding Passported To Institutions    

 Specialist settings 36,391 39,230 2,839 

 Mainstream schools and academies 13,904 17,794 3,890 

 Post 16 settings 4,465 6,744 2,279 

 Out of area and residential placements 8,954 11,541 2,587 

 Alternative provision 5,106 5,282 176 

 Other funding passported to institutions 3,609 4,133 524 

 Total Passported To Institutions 72,429 84,724 12,295 

     

 Commissioned Services 1,821 1,953 132 

     

 Directly Managed By Children & Families  5,581 5,607 26 

   
 

 

Total High Needs Expenditure 79,831 92,284 12,453 

     

Increase to DSG Deficit during 2021/22  1,181  

Page 65

https://consult.education.gov.uk/funding-policy-unit/high-needs-nff-proposed-changes/


4 
 

 

3 Recommendations 

3.1 Schools Forum is asked to note the High Needs budget for 2021/22 and the proposals for 
continued monitoring and identification of options to improve this position moving forward. 

Page 66



 

Report author:  Rebecca McCormack 

Tel:  3787217 

Report of: Lead Officer Admissions and FIS             Agenda item  

Report to Schools Forum 

Date: February 2021 

Subject: 2021/22 Early Years Block  

Summary of main issues  

1. Local authorities will continue to receive funding via the Early Years National Funding 
Formula in the financial year 2021/22 to fund the Free Early Education Entitlement 
(FEEE) for 2, 3 and 4 year olds.  
 

2. The DfE have increased the rate paid to the Local Authority by £0.08 per hour per 
child for 2 year olds and £0.06 per hour per child for 3&4 year olds.  

 
3. The local authority is consulting with providers and School Forum on the proposed 

rates for 2021/22.  The formula for allocating the DSG Early Years Block will be 
determined by the Local Authority following the conclusion of the consultation with 
providers and School Forum.  
 

4. Schools Forum are required to agree the proposed allocation of the centrally 
retained element of the 3&4 Year Old DSG Early Years block funding stream. 
 

Background information 
 

1. The Dedicated Schools Grant includes an Early Years block which is made up of the 
funded early education entitlement for 2, 3s and 4 year olds. This funding is paid out 
to childcare providers (PVI nurseries, Childminders and Schools) where they deliver 
the FEEE offer.  
 

2. A consultation on the proposed local funding formula commenced for providers on 25 
January 2021. The consultation was sent to all providers in Leeds setting out 
proposals for the FEEE rates that would come into force from April 2021.  The 
consultation closed on 19 February 2021.  The responses will be collated and 
analysed prior to determination of the funding arrangements, a decision taken by the 
Director of Children and Families.  

 
3. This paper sets out the proposals for the Early Years block of DSG, and feedback is 

requested to inform final determination. It is a requirement that schools forum are 
consulted on changes to local early years funding formulae by 28 February, and all 
responses will be considered by the Local Authority as final decision maker.   
 

4. The Early Years DSG allocation for Leeds is calculated by the DfE under the EY 
National Funding Formula. In 2021/22 Leeds will receive an £0.08 increase on it’s per 
pupil funding allocation for 2 year olds and £0.06 per hour pupil funding for 3&4 year 
olds.   

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

 
5. Initial feedback from providers on the proposal for the funding indicates that providers 

welcome the full increase being received from the DfE being passed through on the 
base rate.  
 
 

Main Issues 
 

1. Method of allocation 
 

1.1 The DSG Early Years block allocation is based on the number of hours submitted on 
census in January each year. The number of hours claimed that week in January is then 
multiplied by the rate set by the DfE, which for Leeds in 2021/22 will be £5.36 per hour 
for 2 year olds and £4.95 per hour for 3/4 year olds.  
 

1.2 The normal approach to the grant allocation is that the January 2021 census would 
generate funding for Autumn 2020, Spring 2021 and Summer 2021, creating a lagged 
funding effect for the Autumn and Summer terms.  

 
1.3 3&4 Year old funding is not claimed equally across the year, despite the funding 

methodology calculating income on this basis. The number of hours claimed in Autumn 
is the lowest in any year, increasing until the highest claims are seen in the Summer 
term. In addition, the Autumn term is the longest term (14 weeks vs 12 weeks for the 
other terms), often leading to a surplus in funding when the lagged effect is adjusted for 
in the June/July the following year.   

 
1.4 During 2020/21, the DfE adjusted the funding methodology in response to Covid-19. The 

intention was to protect Local Authorities against a reduction in grant income due to 
January 2021 census being low, as Local Authorities were asked to continue funding 
providers in Summer and Autumn 2020 ‘as though Covid had not happened’. This meant 
that the allocation for 2020/21 was paid to the LA based on 9/12ths of January 2020 
census and 3/12ths of January 2021 census as opposed to 7/12ths : 5/12ths.  

 
1.5 At this time, it is expected that the Local Authority allocation for the financial year 

2021/22 will return to the normal method of allocation - 5/12ths of those hours returned by 
providers on the 2021 spring term census and 7/12ths of those hours returned on the 
2022 spring term census.  The expected DSG income for 2021/22 is currently projected 
based on previous allocations and patterns of take-up and is subject to change.  

 
1.6 Providers will continue to receive payments from the LA monthly. During 2020/21, 

schools have transitioned over to use the provider portal (Synergy) for claiming FEEE 
funding. As with all other providers, where schools choose to input estimates into the 
provider portal in advance of the term, they will receive monthly payments. Where they 
only provide data at the headcount point, they receive the single termly payment at the 
end of the term.  

 
1.7 All settings are invited to provide an estimate of the number of funded hours they expect 

to provide over the following term. This generates a monthly payment throughout the 
term of the ‘base rate’ hourly funding.  

 

Page 68



 

3 
 

1.8 Providers are required to confirm child level data which includes all relevant eligibility 
information at three fixed points in the year (once per term). This ‘headcount’ data 
generates the balancing payment in the final month of the term to ensure the settings 
have been funded for the number of children attending and the number of hours eligible 
for funding for that term.  

 
1.9 The supplement payments (SENDIF and Deprivation Uplift) will be paid in one payment 

to providers at the end of the term based on the child level data returned on ‘headcount’.   
 

1.10  Disability Access Fund (DAF) payments are made to providers based on headcount 
claims where providers identify that a child is in receipt of Disability Living Allowance 
(DLA). The payment of £615 is made in the first term that the child is recorded as being 
in receipt of DLA and covers 3 terms, regardless of the number of hours the child claims.   

 
1.11  All providers will receive the same funding rates, as identified by the formulae set out 

in this paper.  
2.  Funding for two year olds 

 
2.1 The 2 year old FEEE funding rate paid to Leeds City Council (the LA) by the DfE has 

increased from £5.28 to £5.36 for each eligible hour of entitlement.  
 

2.2 In line with the decision in previous years to pass through the full 2YO FEEE funding to 
providers, the funding rate paid to providers for 2021/22 will increase to £5.36 per hour 
up to a maximum of £3,055.20 per child per annum for 15 hours x 38 weeks of early 
education.  

 
2.3 Although providers continue to share their concerns that the DfE is under-funding the 

early years entitlement, initial responses from childcare providers have been positive and 
in favour of the proposed increase to their 2 year old FEEE rate.  

 
3.  Funding for three and four year olds  

 
3.1 The 3 and 4 year old FEEE funding rate paid to Leeds City Council by the DfE has 

increased from £4.89 per eligible hour to £4.95.  
 
3.2 Leeds has been able to increase the funding allocated to providers through the base rate 

year on year, by reflecting on the amounts claimed in previous years, and reducing the 
amount of centrally retained funding.  

 
3.3 The full £0.06 increase in the LA allocation from the DfE will be passed through to 

providers. The consultation sent to providers proposed: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 69



 

4 
 

3&4s 

Total DfE 
Hourly 

allocation 
to LA 

Centrally 
Retained 

Deprivation  
Supplement  

SEN 
Inclusion 

Fund 
(SENDIF) 

Base hourly 
rate funding 

 

 £ £ £ £ £  
20/21 
(current) 

 
4.89 0.17 0.29 0.05 4.38  

21/22 
(proposed) 

 
4.95 0.18 0.28 0.05 4.44  

 
 

4.  3&4 YO Centrally retained funding 
 

4.1 The Local Authority is permitted to retain centrally up to 5% of the £4.95 per pupil 
allocation for 3 and 4 year olds, to support the provision of necessary eligibility checks 
and a wide range of central services or services in-kind.  
 

4.2 Despite increases in the per pupil allocation being received in 2019/20 and 2020/21, 
Leeds City Council did not increase the amount of per pupil funding retained centrally, 
meaning the centrally retained element fell to 3.5% of the per pupil per hour funding. At 
the same time, it is recognised that the central support required by settings continues, 
and for some cohorts of children – such as those with emerging SEND – the demand for 
support has increased.  

 
4.3 In recognition that the final Early Years block funding remains unconfirmed until after the 

end of the relevant financial year, LAs do not adjust the centrally retained budget. This 
means that where there are fluctuations in the number of children on January census, 
there is some risk of the centrally retained element being either under or over stated. 
Increasing the centrally retained element (£0.17 in 2020/21 to £0.18 in 2021/22) 
mitigates some of this risk.  

 
4.4 Increasing the centrally retained element to £0.18 per hour per child ensures a pass 

through rate of 96.3% of the per pupil funding received, a slight increase to 3.7% 
retained (from 3.5% in 2020/21). Although an increase on the % retained, the amount to 
be centrally retained is currently projected to be less than in 20/21 due to the expected 
reduction in total hours funded by the DfE.  

 
4.5 Table 2 outlines the proposed commitments for the centrally retained element of the 

Early Years block, with all elements maintained at 20/21 levels, other than the 
contingency, which is proposed to reduce. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 

5 
 

 
Table 2: 

 

  

20/21  
 (central 
retention 

£0.17)  
 

 
21/22 

(proposed % 
of 0.18 

centrally 
retained) 

21/22 
(indicative) 

 

   £     

1 Special Educational Needs Inclusion 
Team (SENIT) 

 460,000  25% 460,000 
 

2 Commissioned Service - Portage  140,000  8% 140,000  

3 Sensory Services  160,000  9% 160,000  

4 Education Psychology  70,000  4% 70,000  

5 Early Years Funding for Inclusion 
team.  3&4 YO Assessments. 

 30,000  2% 30,000 
 

6 
Family Information Service  110,000  6% 110,000 

 

7 
Family Services   500,000  27% 500,000 

 

8 Sufficiency  40,000  2% 40,000  

9 Commissioned Services - Northpoint 
Wellbeing (Leeds Counselling) 

 60,000  3% 60,000 
 

10 

Learning Improvement   200,000  11% 200,000 

 

11 Early Years Action plan  35,000  2% 35,000  

12 Contingency  47,785  1% 12,974  

 Total  1,852,785   1,817,974  

 
  

4.5.1 SENIT EY SENIT comprises Early Years Special Educational needs Co-ordinators 
(EY SENCos) and the EY inclusion workers.  This is a City level offer to all 
educational settings (school nurseries, Childrens centres, PVIs, childminders) for 3 
and 4 years olds to support children with special educational needs. SENCos offer 
high support and challenge to EY settings to develop their capacity in promoting 
equality and inclusion, the early identification of need, assessment, securing 
appropriate provision and improving outcomes. Inclusion Officers play a crucial role 
in supporting the planning of children transitioning from their EY setting to school. 
This is a contribution towards the overall cost of this service.  

4.5.2 Portage This is a contribution towards the commissioned service for parents and 
families of children with identified SEN delivering home visits, information and 
support. This service is currently commissioned to Barnardo’s by the Early Help 
service.    

4.5.3 Sensory Services The Sensory Services support settings and families to meet the 
additional educational and developmental needs of children with visual and/or 
hearing impairment. This is a contribution towards the overall cost of the service. 
The support offered depends on the needs of the child and family, it could include 
support by a teacher of the deaf/visually impaired who will support and advise the 

Page 71



 

6 
 

family around educational support for the child. Support could also take the form of 
support for staff in the setting. A city wide training offer is also in place.  

4.5.4 Education Psychology Supporting Educational Psychology consultations and 
input to EHC assessments. The team offer a city wide consultation service in 
children’s centres across the city to support early intervention and support for 
children with complex needs.  There is also individual support from the EPT for H-
EN cases referred from SENIT on request. This is a contribution towards the cost of 
the EP support offered.  

4.5.5 Early Support & Inclusion. This is a contribution towards the Early Years Funding 
for Inclusion Team who manage the EY FFI and SENDIF processes.  

4.5.6 Family Information Service This contributes to the costs of eligibility checks, 
advice and support to all childcare providers, promotion of the 3&4 year old offer 
and audit checks by the Family Information Service for all providers.   

4.5.7 Family Services Contribution towards the costs of family outreach workers and the 
GRT outreach team who promote the take up of FEEE for all settings, supporting 
3&4 year old take up of the early education entitlement and attendance at early 
years provision, improving readiness for learning at 4/5 years old.  This element of 
spend supports an element of the Leeds approach to whole systems support. The 
model creates an integrated offer across a health, social care and early education 
model ensuring a community based universal offer for all children under 5. The 
main offer for 3-4 year olds is in the city wide play and stay offer where families 
bring children to play learn and communicate together and develop skills for school 
readiness. Family Outreach Workers also work intensively with targeted families. 
These are families who have been referred or refer themselves for short, but 
intensive support.  

4.5.8 Sufficiency A contribution towards the cost of the Sufficiency and Participation 
team, who are responsible for ensuring the sufficiency of Early Years places on a 
citywide level, including 3&4 year old provision. The work undertaken is currently 
overseen by three members of the team and involves supporting providers, 
monitoring places and forecasting future demand, tracking take up of FEEE and 
assessing the sufficiency of places across a range of provision, which is accessible 
for families. Advice and support is available to school nurseries and other providers 
on improving their FEEE offer to ensure it meets the needs of their local families. 
Limited business advice is also provided to improve take up and in turn income, 
ensuring a more sustainable business model can be achieved. The outcomes of 
this support work can result in increased numbers of places in the city, improved 
access to local places, higher numbers of 3&4s accessing places and assisting 
provision to be more sustainable therefore ensuring longevity. 

4.5.9 Northpoint Wellbeing Counselling A contribution towards the cost of a citywide 
parents counselling service. The purpose of the service is to deliver an individual 
counselling service to parents and carers of children aged 0-5 years. Northpoint 
Wellbeing delivers an early intervention responsive service which prevents 
unnecessary escalation to more targeted services. The contract has been in place 
since 1/7/2014. 

4.5.10 Learning Improvement A contribution towards the cost of the Early Years 
Learning Improvement Team and the support they offer to settings in relation to 
improving outcomes for children, working directly in settings with children and 
offering generic leadership support across all types of settings. The team provide 

Page 72



 

7 
 

post-Ofsted support to Requires Improvement and Inadequate settings and 
childminders.  

4.5.11 EY Action plan – Continued commitment to the Early Years Action plan introduced 
in 2020/21 and offering support for all settings to improve outcomes for all children   

4.5.12 Contingency – This allows for some exceptions or discretionary payments to be 
made where there have been issues with eligibility codes being issued but the 
family were otherwise eligible for funded early education places.  
 

4.6 No comments have yet been received from providers relating to the centrally retained 
funding.  

 
5.  Local Universal Base Rate (3&4 year olds) 
 
5.1 Currently the base rate for FEEE is £4.38 per hour. The proposal is to increase this to 

£4.44 per funded hour, passing through the full increase of £0.06 per hour being 
received from the DfE.  
 

5.2 Initial responses to the proposal to increase the base rate in Leeds are positive, although 
providers continue to share their concerns that the increase offered by the DfE is 
insufficient to meet the increasing costs of delivering a quality early learning provision. 

 
6. Supplements 

 
6.1 There are some discretionary supplements permitted within the funding guidance, 

however in Leeds we have only previously used the mandatory supplements, in order to 
ensure that all providers receive as much funding through the base rate as possible.  
 

6.2 Deprivation  
 

There is a mandatory requirement for a supplement over the base rate for deprivation. 
The £0.28 from each hourly rate funds enhanced rates for those children living in areas 
of deprivation.  

 
The supplement for deprivation will continue to be calculated using the Income 
Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) with children receiving an hourly 
supplement if they live in an area of deprivation.  
 
The funding is banded so that children from areas of higher deprivation receive more 
support ranging from payments of £0.30 per hour per child to £0.85 per hour per child 
depending on the IDACI banding the child’s address falls into. The formula is weighted to 
each IDACI banding to pass through all of the deprivation funding to providers where 
they have a child living in IDACI bands A-F. The latest figures from the DfE suggest that 
45% of children live in an area classed as IDACI bands A-F. 
 
Deprivation uplift payments are paid termly in the balancing payment for the term as 
child level information is required in order for the deprivation uplift to be allocated. 

 
 
 

Page 73



 

8 
 

 
 

Deprivation uplift:  

 

Base rate 
paid per 

hour 
£ 

Deprivation 
Uplift 

payment  
£ 

Total Hourly 
rate 

equivalent 
£  

Child lives in IDACI Band A area 4.44 0.85* 5.29*  

Child lives in IDACI Band B area 4.44 0.65* 5.09*  

Child lives in IDACI Band C area 4.44 0.55* 4.99*  

Child lives in IDACI Band D area 4.44 0.55* 4.99*  

Child lives in IDACI Band E area 4.44 0.35* 4.79*  

Child lives in IDACI Band F area  4.44 0.30* 4.74*  
Child lives in IDACI Band G- no dep 
uplift paid 

4.44 0.00 4.44 
 

 
*please note, to ensure the deprivation supplement is paid out in full to providers, the rates applied 
to each IDACI banding may change depending on the grant allocation paid to the Local Authority 
following census.  

 
6.3 SEND Inclusion Fund (SENDIF) 
 

This is a mandatory supplement to be paid to providers where 3 and 4 year olds take up 
any number of hours of their free entitlement where the children have lower level or 
emerging SEND.  
 
Providers apply to the Funding For Inclusion (FFI) Team, who assess the application and 
then award funding to support settings to meet children’s emerging SEN needs. The 
funding is paid to providers at a rate of £3,600 per year where the child attends for 30 
hours per week, or £1,800 per year where the child attends for 15 hours. This is the 
equivalent of an hourly supplement of £3.15 per hour.  This funding rate is targeted at 
those children who do not yet need the support offered from the Funding For Inclusion 
offer (EYFFI).  
 
In 2021/22, there has been a slight reduction in claims from providers on this 
supplement. In particular, there has been a reduction in the number of applications for 
SENDIF support from schools – historically the settings most likely to access SENDIF 
support – which is believed to be due to the impact of COVID-19.  

 
7. Other 

 

7.1 The Disability Access Fund is a fixed amount of £615 per year per child paid in 
accordance with national regulations to those children in receipt of Disability Living 
Allowance, remains with no change. This is funded by the DfE based on DWP data and 
providers claim this funding when a parent identifies and can evidence that they are in 
receipt of Disability Living Allowance for their child. In 21/22, the Family Information 
Service intend to promote this funding to all providers to that they ensure they claim 
appropriately for any child who is eligible.  

Page 74



 

9 
 

Recommendations 

Members of Schools forum are asked to: 

1. Comment on the funding proposals for the Early Years Funding formula 

2. Approve items 1 to 12 of the centrally retained funding identified in 4.6 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Update to Leeds Scheme for Financing Schools
	Appendix leeds scheme for financing schools

	5 DSG Monitoring Report 2020/21
	6 High Needs Block Budget 2021/22
	7 Free Early Years Education Entitlement Rate

